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SALIENT FEATURES

Fund Name IGB REIT

Fund Category Real Estate Investment Trust

Fund Type Income and Growth

Fund Duration The earlier of:
 the occurrence of any of events listed in Clause 27.2 of the Deed of Trust dated 18 July 2012, as 

amended by the First Amending and Restating Deed dated 25 October 2018 (Deed);
 the date 999 years after 25 July 2012 (the date of establishment of IGB REIT); or 
 the date on which IGB REIT is terminated by the Manager under Clause 27.1(b) of the Deed

Investment Policy

Authorised Investments

Malaysia’s Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT Guidelines) or as may be 

Investments Limits
 at least 75% of IGB REIT’s total asset value (TAV) must be invested in real estate that generates 

recurrent rental income at all times; 

estate under construction must not exceed 15% of IGB REIT’s TAV; and

Distribution Policy  At least 90% of IGB REIT’s distributable income
 Quarterly distribution (or such other intervals as the Manager may determine at its absolute discretion)

Borrowing Limitations 
and Gearing Policy

Revaluation Policy

Manager Fee The Manager may elect to receive its fees in cash or units or a combination of cash and units (as it may in its 
sole discretion determine). The Manager is entitled under the Deed to the following fees:

in non-interest bearing accounts) [FY2019: RM15,560,000]

 Acquisition Fee: 1.0% of the transaction value
 Divestment Fee: 0.5% of the transaction value

Trustee Fee

Financial Year End

Listing

Listing Date

Stock Name IGBREIT

Stock Code 5227

Board Lot
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO

Properties MVM TGM

Land area of master title (sq ft)

Tenure

#

Encumbrances/material limitations in 
master title 

 Trust caveat lodged by the Trustee on 
behalf of IGB REIT vide Presentation No. 

 Trust caveat lodged by the Trustee on 
behalf of IGB REIT vide Presentation No. 

 Trust caveat lodged by the Trustee on 

 Trust caveat lodged by the Trustee on 

Restrictions in interest in master title

(Tanah ini tidak boleh dipindahmilik, dipajak, dicagar atau digadai melainkan dengan kebenaran 
Jawatankuasa Kerja Tanah Wilayah Persekutuan Kuala Lumpur)*

This land shall be used for commercial building 
only 
(Tanah ini hendaklah hanya untuk bangunan 
perdagangan sahaja)

This land shall be used for commercial building 

(Tanah ini hendaklah digunakan untuk bangunan 
perdagangan bagi tujuan ruang perniagaan, 
pejabat, hotel dan pangsapuri servis sahaja)

Retail

 1,295,000

Purchase consideration (RM’000) 1,160,000

Net Lettable Area (NLA) as at 1,825,478 848,856

Gross Floor Area as at 

Number of tenancies as at 561

 99.9 98.9

 6,092 4,128

# TGM is separately held under 3 issue documents of strata title. The transfer of these strata titles has been registered in favour of the Trustee.
* The extended expiry date of the State Authority’s consent for the transfer of MVM in favour of the Trustee is 7 January 2021.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS

TAN SRI DATO’ PROF. LIN SEE YAN
(Malaysian, male, age 80)
Chairman, Independent Non-Executive Director

:
Board 
Committee(s) 

:

Education and :

Management, Manila. 

: Ancom Berhad (Non-Executive Director)
Nylex (Malaysia) Berhad (Non-Executive Director)

(Non-Executive Director)
(Non-Executive Director)

DATO’ SERI ROBERT TAN CHUNG MENG
(Malaysian, male, age 67)
Managing Director, Non-Independent Executive Director

: 21 March 2012
Education and :

(IGBC)

(MVM) and 
The Gardens Mall (TGM)

 (GCEO) of IGB Berhad (IGB)

: IGB (GCEO) 
IGBC

(Non-Executive Chairman)
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HALIM BIN HAJI DIN
(Malaysian, male, age 73)
Independent Non-Executive Director

:
Board 
Committee(s)

:

Education and :

(MICPA)

: BNP Paribas Malaysia Berhad
(Non-Executive Director)

LE CHING TAI @ LEE CHEN CHONG
(Malaysian, male, age 78)
Independent Non-Executive Director

:
Board 
Committee(s)

: A member of Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees

Education and :

DANIEL YONG CHEN-I
(Malaysian, male, age 48)
Non-Independent Executive Director

:
Board 
Committee(s) 

:

Education and : Daniel Yong Chen-I is a law graduate from University of Bristol, England.

(MVC) in 1999 as a member of the 

distributor and manufacturer for Toshiba Elevator and Escalators in Malaysia. 

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(continued)
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ELIZABETH TAN HUI NING
(Malaysian, female, age 36)
Non-Independent Executive Director

:
Board 
Committee(s)

:

Education and :

TAN LEI CHENG
(Malaysian, female, age 62)
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

:
Board 
Committee(s)

: A member of Nomination and Remuneration Committees

Education and : Tan Lei Cheng holds a Bachelor of Commerce from University of Melbourne, Australia and a Bachelor of Law from 

(IGBC) 

Berhad (Goldis) (IGB)

IGB on 16 March 2018, she remains as Non-Executive Chairman of IGB.
: IGB (Non-Executive Chairman)

Dato Tan Chin Nam Foundation

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS
(continued)

Note:
None of the Directors have:
(i) any family relationships with any Director of the Manager and/or major unitholders of IGB REIT save for Dato’ Seri Robert Tan Chung Meng, 

Daniel Yong Chen-I, Elizabeth Tan Hui Ning and Tan Lei Cheng.
Notes to the Financial 

Statements of this Annual Report.
(iii) any conviction of offences within the past 5 years nor any sanction and/or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during FY2019.
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PROFILE OF EXECUTIVE TEAM

ANTONY PATRICK BARRAGRY
(British/Permanent Resident of Malaysia, male, age 68)

:

Education and :
(FIABCI). 

DANIEL YONG CHEN-I

ELIZABETH TAN HUI NING

CHAI LAI SIM

:

Education and :
Accountants.

(IGBC) in 2002, she 

of IGBC. (IGB) on 16 March 2018, she 
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PROFILE OF EXECUTIVE TEAM
(continued)

CHOW YENG KEET
Head of Investment

:

Education and :

(IGBC)
IGB Berhad (IGB) 

TINA CHAN LAI YIN
Head of Compliance/Company Secretary

:

Education and :

, where she had 

(IGB) 
(IGBC)

TAN MEI SIAN
Head of Strategy & Risk

: 1 February 2020

Education and :

executive director of Goldis Berhad (has been renamed as IGB Berhad (IGB) on 20 March 2018) from 18 May 2016 to 
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RENNIE LEE CHAI TIN
Head of Operations/Leasing (MVM)

:
Education and : (MVC)

General Manager of MVC.

KO CHAI HUAT
Head of Marketing (MVM)

:
Education and : (MVC)

of Design of MVC.

GABRIELLE TAN HUI CHWEEN
Head of Marketing (TGM)

:
Education and :

TGM.

PROFILE OF EXECUTIVE TEAM
(continued)



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 13

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

 Group   Fund 

FYE 2019 FYE 2018 FYE 2017 FYE 2016 FYE 2015
Gross revenue (RM’000) 524,918 489,190

(NPI) (RM’000)
Distributable income (RM’000) 290,980

(EPU) (realised) (sen) 8.91 8.60 8.64 7.96
Core EPU (sen) 8.91 9.45 9.78 7.96

(DPU) (sen) 9.16 9.19 9.28 8.71 8.19
Annualised DPU (sen) 9.16 9.19 9.28 8.71 8.19
Annualised distribution yield (%) 4.84 5.16 5.41 6.11

0.98 0.96 0.94 0.91

 Group   Fund 

Gross revenue
FYE 2019

RM’000
FYE 2018

RM’000
FYE 2017

RM’000
FYE 2016

RM’000
FYE 2015

RM’000
MVM
TGM 165,282 160,641 158,471 152,667 149,145

Total 552,132 535,689 524,918 507,344 489,190

 Group   Fund 

NPI
FYE 2019

RM’000
FYE 2018

RM’000
FYE 2017

RM’000
FYE 2016

RM’000
FYE 2015

RM’000
MVM 294,941 277,875
TGM 95,688 94,846 92,404

Total 398,786 386,250 373,563 361,109 342,788

 Group   Fund 

As at
31.12.2019

As at
31.12.2018

As at
31.12.2017

As at
31.12.2016

As at
31.12.2015

4,960,000 4,960,000 4,890,000 4,890,000
Total asset value (RM’000) 5,220,951 5,202,966 5,250,728 5,194,257 5,170,007
Total liabilities (RM’000) 1,527,429 1,522,274 1,504,498
Net asset value (NAV) (RM’000)

1.0656 1.0597 1.0511 1.0558

Notes:
1. FYE: Financial year ended 31 December.
2. The Group results include a subsidiary which was incorporated in 2017.
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NAV PER UNIT PERFORMANCE FOR IGB REIT (RM)

UNIT PRICE PERFORMANCE FOR IGB REIT

Month end closing price for 2019 (RM)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(continued)

FYE 2019 FYE 2018 FYE 2017 FYE 2016 FYE 2015
1.89 1.80 1.61
2.10 1.80 1.80 1.74
1.72 1.46 1.55 1.24

Issued units (‘000)
6,707,285 6,115,221 4,652,197
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

About IGB REIT

Valley Megamall (MVM) and The Gardens Mall (TGM) (NLA) of 
(sf)

2019 Highlights 

Gross Revenue

RM552.1 million

(NPI)

RM398.8 million

NLA

2.67 million sf in 2018

99.6%
98.6% in 2018

(DPU)

9.16 sen
9.19 sen in 2018

Distribution Yield

4.8%

RM4.96 billion
RM4.96 billion in 2018

Net Asset Value (NAV)

RM1.0663
RM1.0656 in 2018

RM6.71 billion
RM6.12 billion in 2018

reached record numbers.

community and the hub of a neighbourhood. As such, malls are also where families and friends gather to have a meal or just enjoy some leisure 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(continued)

Financial Review

a) Group Key Financial Highlights

Key Financial Highlights
FY2019
RM’000

FY2018
RM’000

Change
(%)

Gross Revenue 
 MVM 386,850 375,048 3.15
 TGM 165,282 160,641 2.89

NPI
 MVM 294,941 286,357 3.00
 TGM 103,845 99,893 3.96

(NP)
DPU (sen) 9.16 9.19

As at
31.12.2019

As at
31.12.2018

Change
(%)

4,960,000 4,960,000 -
 MVM 3,665,000 3,665,000 -
 TGM 1,295,000 1,295,000 -

Total Asset Value (RM’000) 5,220,951 5,202,966
225,509 8.88

Total Liabilities (RM’000) 0.05
NAV (RM’000) 0.46

1.0656 0.07
No. of Issued Units (’000) 0.40

growth of 0.46%. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(continued)

c) Income Distribution

FY2019
(RM’ million)

FY2018
(RM’ million)

Income distribution 
 1st quarter 85.0 87.4
 2nd quarter 80.1 75.5
 3rd quarter 82.0 80.9
 4th quarter 77.6 80.7

Payout ratio (%) 95.0 95.0

taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) on 29 November 2019.

with regular and stable income distribution.

(AEIs)

AEIs



18

Community Engagement

build momentum and awareness.

TGM. 

and LEGO

the ceremony, gifts and treats were handed out. 

Challenges in the Year

occurrences.

Looking Ahead

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(continued)
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utilise social media to engage their customer base.

relevant, and also be conscious of this as we strengthen our engagement with our community. In 2020, we will also continue to increase our 

memories and traditions for generations to come. 

Risk Management Integral to Sustained Success

(ERM)

whole value cycle of an organisation.

objectives.

(a) Interest Rate Risk 

(b) Credit risk 

, Isetan, Robinsons 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(continued)
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(c) Liquidity and Cash Flow Risk 

Malaysia’s Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT Guidelines) concerning limits on total borrowings.

(d) Capital Management 

31.12.2019
RM’ million

31.12.2018
RM’ million

Borrowings 1,214 1,214
(226) (207)

Net gearing 988 1,007
Total Unitholders’ fund
Net gearing (%) 26% 27%
Loan-to-total asset value (LTV) (%)

 

Guidelines.

(e) Business/Market Risk

interaction with our customers both on the ground and online. 

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(continued)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(continued)

(g) Tenant Concentration Risk 

(h) Human Capital Risk 

insurance. 

(i) Terrorist Threats 

sustainability of our business. 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
(continued)

(GIT)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT

IGB Real Estate Investment Trust (IGB REIT) is a retail-focused REIT constituted by the Deed of Trust dated 18 July 2012 as amended by 
the First Amending and Restating Deed dated 25 October 2018 (collectively, the Deed) (IGB REIT 
Management), as manager of IGB REIT (Manager), and MTrustee Berhad, as trustee of IGB REIT (Trustee). IGB REIT is a collective investment 

 Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts (REIT Guidelines). IGB REIT is 
.

consistent with what it reasonably considers to be in the best interests of IGB REIT and its unitholders 

(IGBC), which in 
turn is wholly-owned by IGB Berhad (IGB)

The Board of Directors (Board or Directors) (CG) in achieving the investment 

integrity is reinforced. 

(MCCG)

www.igbreit.com

PRINCIPLE A: BOARD LEADERSHIP AND EFFECTIVENESS

Practice 1.1
The board should set the company’s strategic aims, ensure that the necessary resources are in place for the company to meet its 
objectives and review management performance. The board should set the company’s values and standards, and ensure that its 
obligations to its shareholders (SHs) and other stakeholders are understood and met.

(NEDs), 1 Managing Director (MD) and 
2 Executive Directors (EDs). The Chair of the Board (Board Chairman) (INED). 

 (INED), Lee Chen Chong (LCC)  (MD), 
Daniel Yong Chen-I (DYCI)  (ED) and Tan Lei Cheng (TLC) (Non-INED)

(Executive 
Team or (CEO)
Valley Megamall) (MVM) (TGM) (CFO), 

‘Executive Management’ shall include a reference to MD, EDs 

 and . 

acted in the best interests of the Manager and IGB REIT.
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(BCs), including the 

guiding the strategic business directions of the Manager and IGB REIT;
overseeing and evaluating the conduct of businesses of the Manager and IGB REIT;

There are 4 standing BCs which the Board has delegated its authority to assist in reviewing and monitoring the above functions. These BCs 
are Audit Committee (AC), Nomination Committee (NC), Remuneration Committee (RC)

Practice 1.2
A Chairman of the board who is responsible for instilling good CG practices, leadership and effectiveness of the board is appointed.

Practice 1.3
The positions of Chairman and CEO are held by different individuals.

Practice 1.4

adherence to rules and procedures, and advocate adoption of CG best practices.

Act 2007 (MMLR), or as required by Board Chairman or Directors (or any 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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Practice 1.5
Directors receive meeting materials, which are complete and accurate within a reasonable period prior to the meeting. Upon conclusion 
of the meeting, the minutes are circulated in a timely manner.

activities. 

individual attendance record is disclosed in . 

be borne by the Manager.

Practice 2.1

circumstances. 

(ToR)

disclosed in . 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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Practice 3.1
The board establishes a Code of Conduct and Ethics (CCE) for the company, and together with management implements its policies 

(COI), preventing the abuse of power, corruption, insider trading and 
money laundering.
The CCE is published on the company’s website.

(a) Directors’ Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (Code)

guided by the Code in discharging its oversight role effectively. The Code requires all Directors to observe high ethical business standards, 

in the best interests of the Manager and IGB REIT. 

(ABC) 

Guidelines on Adequate Procedures (GAP)

(b) COI

in relation to matters in which they may have an interest, in accordance with the Deed and REIT Guidelines. To maintain integrity in decision-

(c) Related Party Transactions (RPT)

 The Board, through AC, reviews all recurrent RPT (RRPT)

that transaction or arrangement. The Manager maintains a register to record all RPT/RRPT, which are entered into by IGB REIT. 

(7th AGM)
(RRPT Mandate) . Based on the 
actual amount transacted from the date of the 7th

mandate are disclosed in .

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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(8th AGM)

Directors who have interests in the RRPT Mandate have abstained from all Board deliberations and voting and would ensure that they and 
th AGM. The details of the RRPT Mandate are 

set out in the Circular to Unitholders – RRPT Mandate (Circular).

(d) 

 is made to Bursa 

, with the announcement 
Unitholding Statistics in this Annual 

Practice 3.2
The board establishes, reviews and together with management implements policies and procedures on whistleblowing.

(GIA)

REIT’s website.

Practice 4.1
At least half of the board comprises independent directors (IDs). For Large Companies, the board comprises a majority IDs.

circumstances that may affect his/her status as ID.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)



28

NC had also considered the recommendation in MCCG to have majority INEDs. NC was of the view that an effective Board should constitute with 

Practice 4.2
The tenure of an ID does not exceed a cumulative term limit of 9 years. Upon completion of 9 years, an ID may continue to serve on the 
board as a non-ID. 
If the board intends to retain an ID beyond 9 years, it should justify and seek annual SH approval. If the board continues to retain the ID 
after the 12th year, the board should seek annual SH approval through a 2-tier voting process.

retirement by rotation under the Manager’s Constitution. 

Practice 4.3 (Step Up)
The board has a policy which limits the tenure of its IDs to 9 years.

of the business affairs of the Manager and IGB REIT, and the length of their service on the Board does not in any way interfere with their exercise 

Practice 4.4
Appointment of board and senior management (SM) are based on objective criteria, merit and with due regard for diversity in skills, 
experience, age, cultural background and gender.

Practice 4.5
The board discloses in its annual report the company’s policies on gender diversity, its targets and measures to meet those targets. For 
Large Companies, the board must have at least 30% women directors.

rather than gender alone.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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Practice 4.6
In identifying candidates for appointment of directors, the board does not solely rely on recommendations from existing board 

Practice 4.7
NC is chaired by an ID or senior ID.

Practice 5.1
The board should undertake a formal and objective annual evaluation to determine the effectiveness of the board, its BCs and each 
individual director. The board should disclose how the assessment was carried out and its outcome. 
For Large Companies, the board engages independent experts periodically to facilitate objective and candid board evaluations.

The Board has included in its Charter a requirement to conduct annual board evaluation to assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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consultant was not necessary at this stage. 

Practice 6.1
The board has in place policies and procedures to determine the remuneration of directors and SM, which takes into account the 
demands, complexities and performance of the company as well as skills and experience required. The policies and procedures are 
periodically reviewed and made available on the company’s website.

(RPP) for Directors and Executive 

do not receive any fee nor meeting allowance as they are salaried executives of the Manager. Directors are entitled to be reimbursed by the 

BCs. None of the NEDs has a service contract with the Manager. 

year.

Practice 6.2
The board has a RC to implement its policies and procedures on remuneration including reviewing and recommending matters relating 
to the remuneration of the board and SM. 
RC has written ToR which deals with its authority and duties and these terms are disclosed on the company’s website

Management, which had been endorsed by the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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Practice 7.1
There is detailed disclosure on named basis for the remuneration of individual directors. The remuneration breakdown of individual 

(BIK) and other emoluments.

1
Salary and Bonus2

RM
Fee
RM

Meeting Allowance
RM

Total
RM

- 140,000 171,000
4,742,012 - - 4,742,012

- 110,000 29,500
LCC - 100,000 27,500 127,500
DYCI  592,704 - - 592,704

 592,704 - - 592,704
TLC - 100,000 17,500 117,500
Total 5,927,420 450,000 105,500 6,482,920

Notes:
1 None of the Directors receive BIK.
2 Salary and Bonus including EPF contributions

Practice 7.2
The board discloses on a named basis the top 5 SM’s remuneration component including salary, bonus, BIK and other emoluments in 
bands of RM50,000.

Remuneration Bands Salary and Bonus(a) BIK(b) Total
2 100.00% - 100.00%
1 100.00% - 100.00%
1 100.00% - 100.00%
1 95.06% 4.94% 100.00%

Notes:
(a)

(b) BIK includes driver, club membership, mobile communication device and expenses, parking and accommodation.

Practice 7.3 (Step Up)
Companies are encouraged to fully disclose the detailed remuneration of each member of SM on a named basis.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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PRINCIPLE B: EFFECTIVE AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Practice 8.1
The Chairman of AC is not the Chairman of the board.

Practice 8.2
AC has a policy that requires a former key audit partner to observe a cooling-off period of at least 2 years before being appointed as AC 
member.

(EA)

(PwC), who has been EA of IGB REIT since listing. 

Practice 8.3
AC has policies and procedures to assess the suitability, objectivity and independence of EA.

Independent Auditors’ Report. 

Practice 8.4 (Step Up)
AC should comprise solely of IDs.

Practice 8.5

All AC members should undertake continuous professional development to keep themselves abreast of relevant developments in 
accounting and auditing standards, practices and rules. 

(IA)

holds a scheduled meeting at least once every quarter and on such other occasions that necessitate their involvement. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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during FY2019 are described in greater details under the heading Audit Committee Report

.

Practice 9.1
The board should establish an effective risk management and internal control framework. 

Practice 9.2
The board should disclose the features of its risk management and internal control framework, and the adequacy and effectiveness of 
this framework.

Treadway Commission’s (ERM)

1. Governance and Culture

2. Strategy and Objective-Setting

4. Review and Revision
time and in light of substantial changes, and what revisions are needed.

5. 

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control which has been reviewed by PwC.

Practice 9.3 (Step Up)
The board establishes a Risk Management Committee, which comprises a majority of IDs, to oversee the company’s risk management 
framework and policies

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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Sustainability Statement.

Practice 10.1
AC should ensure that IA function is effective and able to function independently.

Practice 10.2
The board should disclose:

(GIAD)

(Australia), Fellow member of the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA)

 i.e. communication 

information.

Audit Committee Report.

(QAR) of GIA division is conducted at least once every 5 years by a 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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PRINCIPLE C: INTEGRITY IN CORPORATE REPORTING AND MEANINGFUL RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Practice 11.1
The board ensures there is effective, transparent and regular communication with its stakeholders.

Practice 11.2
Large Companies are encouraged to adopt integrated reporting based on a globally recognised framework.

Management Discussion and Analysis.

Practice 12.1
Notice for an AGM should be given to SHs at least 28 days prior to the meeting.

Practice 12.2
All directors attend general meetings (GMs). The chair of AC, NC, RMC and other committees provide meaningful response to questions 
addressed to them.

to communicate their views at AGM. 

Practice 12.3
Listed companies with a large number of SHs or which have meetings in remote locations should leverage technology to facilitate:

behalf at the GMs. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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DIRECTORS’ AND CEO’S ATTENDANCE AT THE MANAGER’S BOARD AND BC MEETINGS, AND AGM OF IGB REIT HELD DURING 
FY2019

Board AC NC RC RMSC AGM
4 4 1 2 4 1
4 4 1 2 N.A(b) 1
4 4 1 2 N.A(b) 1

LCC, INED 4 4 1 2 N.A(b) 1
4 4(a) N.A(b) 2(a) N.A(b) 1

DYCI, ED 4 N.A(b) N.A(b) N.A(b) 4 0
N.A(b) N.A(b) N.A(b) 4 1

TLC, Non-INED 4 N.A(b) 1 2 N.A(b) 1
4(a) N.A(b) N.A(b) N.A(b) 4 1

Notes:
(a) Attendance was by invitation.
(b) N.A. means not applicable.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

discharging their duties to the Manager and IGB REIT:

Training Focus

and Ethics Diversity 

Malaysian Economic Convention 2019: Government’s Role in Business Malaysia Inc 2.0*

Economics, Finance 
and Accounting

th

rd

Financial Crisis in Asia

in an Age of Anxiety*
Law and Taxation Inland Revenue Board of Malaysia and Chartered Tax Institute of Malaysia: National Tax Conference 2019*
Industry

* TSL as guest speaker/panel speaker/moderator

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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RRPT MANDATE

At its 7th

utilised from the date of the 7th

Mandate:

Transacting 
Party

Actual Value FY2019
RM’000

Estimated Value
RM’000 Interested Related Parties

(a)

facilities

gas

communication technology 

Management fee

5,970

12,856

518

256

10

70,000

IGB REIT Management(b)

IGBC(b)

IGB(b)

(c)

DYCI(d)

(e)

TLC(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

(j)

TOTAL 55,109 70,000

Notes:
(a) The principal activities of IGB Group are investment holding, provision of management services, property investment and management, owner 

and operator of malls, hotel operations, property development, construction, information and communication technology services, provision of 
engineering services for water treatment plants and related services, education, investment holding and management of REIT.

(b) IGB REIT Management is a wholly-owned subsidiary of IGBC, which in turn is wholly-owned by IGB, a major UH of IGB REIT.
(c) DSRT is MD and Non-Independent Non-Executive Director (NIED)

a director of certain subsidiaries within IGB Group, WSTSB Group and TKYSB; major UH of IGB REIT; major SH of IGB; substantial SH of 
TKYSB; the father of ETHN; and a brother of PTSM and TTCK.

(d) DYCI is NIED of IGB REIT Management; a director of certain subsidiaries within IGB Group; a son of PTSM; and alternate to PTSM on the 
board of WSTSB.

(e) ETHN is NIED of IGB REIT Management; a director of certain subsidiaries within IGB Group; and a daughter of DSRT.
(f) TLC is Non-INED of IGB REIT Management; Chairman and Non-INED of IGB; and a director of certain subsidiaries within IGB Group, TCNSB 

and WSTSB.
(g) PTSM is a director of WSTSB Group and TKYSB; major UH of IGB REIT; major SH of IGB; substantial SH of TKYSB; the mother of DYCI; and 

a sister of DSRT and TTCK.
(h) TTCK is a director of TKYSB Group; major UH of IGB REIT; major SH of IGB; substantial SH of TKYSB; and a brother of DSRT and PTSM.
(i) TCNSB is major UH of IGB REIT; major SH of IGB; substantial SH of WSTSB; and person connected to TLC.
(j) TKYSB is major UH of IGB REIT; major SH of IGB; substantial SH of WSTSB; and person connected to DSRT, PTSM, TTCK, DYCI and ETHN.
(k) WSTSB is major UH of IGB REIT; major SH of IGB; and person connected to DSRT, PTSM, TTCK, TCNSB and TKYSB.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OVERVIEW STATEMENT
(continued)
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Audit Committee (AC), formed on 7 May 2012, is to assist the Board of Directors (Board or Directors)
(Manager)

(IGB REIT)

AC has authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference which can be viewed on IGB REIT’s website, full access to and co-

(FY2019)

COMPOSITION

(AC Chairman) and the 

(EA) of IGB REIT. All AC members have 

(CG) standards. 

MEETINGS AND ATTENDANCE

4 meetings were held during FY2019 which were attended by all AC members. Managing Director (MD) attended all meetings as requested 

(CFO)
(GIA) of IGB Berhad (IGB)

AC minutes were included in Directors’ materials for meetings. 

SUMMARY OF PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

(a) 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(continued)

announced via the regulatory information service 

REIT and the Manager.

 

(First Interim Distribution)
taxable) (Third Interim Distribution), 

the Board. 

(Q4FY2019) as well as the declaration 
(Fourth Interim Distribution), 

(b)  External Audit 

auditing and accounting issues highlighted, including management’s judgements, estimates and/or assessments made, and 

internal and external audits.

(PwC) for the audit of IGB 

services related to tax consultancy. 

 (ii) Reviewed and deliberated on matters relating to internal control highlighted by EA in the course of their audit of IGB REIT Financial 



40

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(continued)

(c)  Internal Audit (IA)

Auditors (IIA)

and AC.

(RPT)
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(d) 

during FY2019.

Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control.

(e) Recurrent RPT (RRPT)

 During FY2019, IGB REIT entered into RRPT as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Overview Statement contained in this Annual 

which is set out in the Circular to Unitholders- RRPT Mandate
2020, and having considered, amongst others, the nature of RRPT to be made were intended to meet the ordinary and usual course of 

(f) 

TRAINING

 of the 
Corporate Governance Overview Statement

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(continued)
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of Directors (Board)
Control 
Requirements (MMLR)
for Directors of Listed Issuers.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

Commission’s (ERM)

1. Governance and Culture

2. Strategy and Objective-Setting

4. Review and Revision
time and in light of substantial changes, and what revisions are needed.

5. 

RISK MANAGEMENT

in consultation with the Audit Committee (AC)

Audit (IA) (BCP) in consultation with the management and business functional units. The BCP 
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STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

INTERNAL CONTROL PROCESSES

Organisation & Structure 

Anticipation & Accountability 

Director (MD) (CEO) and the Board.

Compliance & Training 

retention rate of strong talent.

in accordance with Recommended Practice Guide (RPG) 5 (Revised) issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. RPG 5 (Revised) does not 
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT

1. Introduction

(FY2019), which 
(MVM) and The Gardens Mall (TGM). MVM and 

order to do this, we need to constantly innovate, embrace change, and have an ear to the ground. 

 The Board of Directors (Board)

3. Our Sustainability Governance Structure

Committee 
(CEO)

Board

Management

RMSC CEO
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

4. Materiality Process

 Feedback Channels 

 Table 1: Summary of Stakeholder Feedback Channels

Business Partners

as through meetings and discussions organised 
 Regular communication and consultation with the government and authorities

Investment Community  Regular engagement with the investment community through the Annual General Meeting, the annual 

channels
Tenants

 * Chartwell ITAC International Sdn Bhd (Property Manager) has engaged Mid Valley City Sdn Bhd and Mid Valley City Gardens Sdn Bhd 
(Service Providers) to manage the people who oversee the day to day running of our malls

 
 Table 2: List of Material Sustainability Matters

Material Sustainability Matters
Enriching Communities

Community Engagement
Energy Conservation
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

 (a) Economic

  Enriching Communities

to enhance the vicinity around Mid Valley City so that together we can create a thriving hub that can be enjoyed by all.

 (b) Environmental

  Water Management 

(PPR)

handling units 

  Table 3: Annual Water Consumption (2016 to 2019)

Year
    m3    Total Change

(%)MVM TGM Total

2016 791,422.09 Base year
2017 779,808.21 (1.5)
2018 405,871.25 (6.2)
2019 (0.08)
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

  Waste Management 

beverages

number of recycling bins in our malls increased to 11 in MVM and 42 in TGM.

  Table 4: Annual Volume of Waste Disposed (2016 to 2019)

Year Total Pulls Total Tonnes

Change in 
Total Pulls

(%)

2016 2547 5094 Base year
2017 4744 (6.9)
2018 2087 4174 (12.0)
2019 2096 4192 0.4
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

in the table below.

  Table 5: Total Volume of Recyclable Materials Collected (2016 to 2019)

Year Total Pulls* Total Tonnes

Change in 
Total Pulls

(%)

2016 Base year
2017 0
2018 249
2019 286 429 14.9

  Table 6: Volume of Food Composted (2016 to 2019)

Year Kg % change

2016 4957 Base Year
2017 4968 0.2
2018 2827
2019

  Energy Consumption 

  Though total energy consumed by both malls in the year decreased, MVM’s usage increased. This was due to the mall having to use an 
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

  Table 7: Annual Electricity Consumption (kwH) (2016 to 2019)

Year
    kWh    Total change

(%)MVM TGM Total

2016 50,707,660.00 45,709,489.60 96,417,149.60 Base
2017 47,861,707.64 (4.9)
2018 40,921,119.86 (5.0)
2019 47,841,910.00 86,586,028.00 (0.6)

 (c) Social 

  Health and Safety

  Table 8: Reported Health and Safety Incidences (2016 to 2019)

Incidents cases 2016 2017 2018 2019

Death - - - 1
Dangerous Occurrence 46 54 10 4
Injury 8 10 29
Near Misses 18 6 10 7

- - 11 12
- - 6 16

Total 72 70 50 69

  IGB REIT regrets the occurrence of all health and safety incidents that have occurred in our malls and remains committed to continuing 
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

  Human Capital Management 

 have been engaged by Chartwell ITAC International 

and that they can affect change through. 

 here in Malaysia. 

  Security 

collaboratively on investigations, information sharing, and training. 

 Impacting Lives, Enriching Communities
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

(TFM)

 a. Chinese New Year

Celebrating Chinese New Year at Chuck Two Sons Senior citizens from the Rumah Victory Elderly Home 
celebrating Chinese New Year at MVM

 b. Hari Raya

children.

Enjoying a Buka Puasa Dinner at the Boulevard Hotel Volunteers at the Teach for Malaysia booth set up at TGM

 c. Christmas
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SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)

donated to charity. 

 Total funds raised and donated to various homes during Christmas 
amounted to RM60,000.

of RM6,568 was raised at the booth. 

TFM, by Antony Barragry, CEO of the Manager.

Antony Barragry, CEO of the Manager, presenting a mock 

Founder of Teach For Malaysia

The Teach For Malaysia booth set up at the North Palm of 
TGM

 Mid Valley City Charity Run 2019

th year. Due 

RM100,000 was raised and channelled to TFM through registration fees collected.

Antony Barragry, CEO of the Manager, presenting a mock 

of Teach For Malaysia

Participants at the Mid Valley City Charity Run 2019

Customers browsing the Weave.Fun booth



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 53

The interactive exhibition set up to help raise awareness about 
Teach For Malaysia Game for Members of the Public

 Sponsorship, Charitable Support and Other Events

United Voice

Malaysia Aeon Foundation Charity Gala Dinner

with a TFM Fellow on 15 July 2019.

Ms Gabrielle Tan, Head of Marketing at TGM, with TFM 
Fellows and Students during TFM Week

chess throughout his lifetime. This year MVM assisted with the 16th 
Malaysia Chess Festival 2019 which was held from 9 to 18 August 

countries. The 46th

Participants playing chess at the 16th IGB Dato’ Arthur Tan Malaysian 
Open Chess Championship, an event in the 16th Malaysia Chess 

Festival 2019

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)
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th th

5. Looking Ahead

after year. 

These are just some events that have highlighted the urgency with which the global community must come together and address climate 

deliver long term value to our unitholders.

SUSTAINABILITY STATEMENT
(continued)
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MANAGER’S REPORT

The Manager of IGB Real Estate Investment Trust (“IGB REIT” or “Fund”), IGB REIT Management Sdn Bhd (“Manager”), is pleased to present the 
report and audited financial statements of the Group (i.e. IGB REIT and its wholly-owned subsidiary, IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd) and of the Fund 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY OF THE MANAGER

The principal activity of the Manager is the management of real estate investment trust (“REIT”). There has been no significant change in the 
nature of this activity during the financial year.

THE FUND AND ITS INVESTMENT OBJECTIVE

IGB REIT is a Malaysia-domiciled REIT established on 25 July 2012 pursuant to the deed of trust dated 18 July 2012, as amended by the first 
amending and restating deed dated 25 October 2018 (“Deed”) between the Manager and MTrustee Berhad (“Trustee”), listed on Main Market 
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) on 21 September 2012 and regulated by the Securities Commission Act 1993, the 
Securities Commission Malaysia’s Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts (“REIT Guidelines”), the Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Securities, the Rules of Bursa Malaysia Depository (“Depository”) and taxation laws and rulings. IGB REIT will continue its operations until such 
time as determined by the Manager and the Trustee as provided under the provisions of Clause 27 of the Deed. The principal investment policy of 
IGB REIT is to invest, directly and indirectly, in a diversified portfolio of income producing real estate used primarily for retail purposes in Malaysia 
and overseas as well as real estate related assets. Real estate used primarily for retail purposes would include retail properties and mixed used 
development with a retail component.

Distribution of income

IGB REIT had declared distributions in the financial year as follows:-

- 	 2.40 sen per unit (@ 2.36 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2019, which was paid on 
31 May 2019;

- 	 2.26 sen per unit (@ 2.22 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019, which was paid on 30 
August 2019;

- 	 2.31 sen per unit (@ 2.27 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019, which was paid on 
29 November 2019; and

-	 2.19 sen per unit (@ 2.15 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 October 2019 to 31 December 2019, which is payable 
on 28 February 2020.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

All material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year are shown in the financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who have served on the Board of the Manager, since the date of the last report are as follows:-
 
Tan Sri Dato’ Dr Lin See Yan
Dato’ Seri Robert Tan Chung Meng
Halim bin Haji Din
Le Ching Tai @ Lee Chen Chong
Tan Lei Cheng
Daniel Yong Chen-I
Elizabeth Tan Hui Ning
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DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangement subsisted to which the Manager is a party, with the object or objects of enabling the 
Directors of the Manager to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of units in or debentures of IGB REIT or any other body corporate, other 
than as disclosed in Directors’ interest.

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit (other than certain Directors received 
remuneration as a result of their employment with the Manager or related corporations).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST

The following Directors of the Manager who held office at the end of the financial year had, according to the register of unitholdings in IGB REIT, 
interests in the units of IGB REIT as follows:-

	 Number of units

Balance at
01.01.2019 Addition

Disposal/
Transferred 

Balance at
31.12.2019

Dato’ Seri Robert Tan Chung Meng
Direct 14,739,081 - - 14,739,081
Indirect 1,900,140,097 14,017,647 - 1,914,157,744

Tan Lei Cheng
Direct 1,853,742 - - 1,853,742
Indirect 345,722 - - 345,722

Daniel Yong Chen-I
Direct 622,132 - - 622,132
Indirect 1,080,898 - - 1,080,898

Elizabeth Tan Hui Ning
Direct 3,279,000 300,000 - 3,579,000

Other than as disclosed above, the other Directors who held office at the end of the financial year did not have interests in the units of IGB REIT.

OTHER INFORMATION

Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund were prepared, the Manager took reasonable steps:-

(a)	 to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowance for doubtful debts and 
satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and that adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b)	 to ensure that any current assets, which were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course of business including the values of current assets 
as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Fund had been written down to an amount which the current assets might be 
expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Manager is not aware of any circumstances:-

(a)	 which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the allowance for doubtful debts in the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Fund inadequate to any substantial extent;

(b)	 which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund misleading; or 

(c)	 which have arisen which render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Group and of the Fund misleading 
or inappropriate. 

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within the period of twelve (12) months after the end of 
the financial year which, in the opinion of the Manager, will or may affect the ability of the Group or of the Fund to meet its obligations when they 
fall due.

MANAGER’S REPORT
(continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION  (continued)

At the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(a)	 any charge on the assets of the Group or of the Fund which has arisen since the end of the financial year which secures the liability of any 
other person; or 

(b)	 any contingent liability of the Group or of the Fund which has arisen since the end of the financial year.

At the date of this report, the Manager is not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which 
would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.

In the opinion of the Manager:-

(a)	 the results of the operations of the Group and of the Fund during the financial year were not substantially affected by any item, transaction or 
event of a material and unusual nature; and 

(b)	 there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, transaction or event of a 
material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the operations of the Group and of the Fund for the financial year in 
which this report is made.

material litigation

The Manager is not aware of any pending material litigation as at the date of statement of financial position and up to the date of this report.

Soft commission

There was no soft commission received by the Manager and/or its delegates during the financial year.

HOLDING COMPANY

The Manager regards IGB Berhad, a company incorporated in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Securities, as the holding 
company.

AUDITORS 

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers PLT (LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146), have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment as auditors.

Signed on behalf of the Board of the Manager in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Manager dated 20 February 2020.

DATO’ SERI ROBERT TAN CHUNG MENG					     HALIM BIN HAJI DIN
MANAGING DIRECTOR							       DIRECTOR

MANAGER’S REPORT
(continued)
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In the opinion of the Directors of the Manager, the financial statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Deed, the REIT 
Guidelines, applicable securities laws, Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Fund as at 31 December 2019 and of their financial performance and cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Signed on behalf of the Board of the Manager in accordance with a resolution of the Directors of the Manager dated 20 February 2020.

DATO’ SERI ROBERT TAN CHUNG MENG					     HALIM BIN HAJI DIN
MANAGING DIRECTOR							       DIRECTOR

I, Chai Lai Sim, the Chief Financial Officer of the Manager primarily responsible for the financial management of the Group and of the Fund, 
do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements are, to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn 
declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

CHAI LAI SIM

Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed at Kuala Lumpur in the Federal Territory on 20 February 2020.

Before me:

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS

STATEMENT BY THE MANAGER

STATUTORY DECLARATION
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We have acted as Trustee of IGB REIT for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. In our opinion and to the best of our knowledge, the 
Manager has managed IGB REIT in accordance with the limitations imposed on the investment powers of the Manager and the Trustee under the 
Deed, the REIT Guidelines, applicable securities laws and other applicable laws during the financial year then ended.

We have ensured the procedures and processes employed by the Manager to value and price the units of IGB REIT are adequate and that such 
valuation/pricing is carried out in accordance with the Deed and other regulatory requirements.

We also confirm the income distributions declared during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are in line with and are reflective of the 
objectives of IGB REIT. Income distributions have been declared for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 as follows:-

- 	 2.40 sen per unit (@ 2.36 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2019, which was paid on 
31 May 2019;

- 	 2.26 sen per unit (@ 2.22 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019, which was paid on 30 
August 2019;

- 	 2.31 sen per unit (@ 2.27 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019, which was paid on 
29 November 2019; and

-	 2.19 sen per unit (@ 2.15 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) for the period from 1 October 2019 to 31 December 2019, which is payable 
on 28 February 2020.

For and on behalf of the Trustee,
MTRUSTEE BERHAD

NURIZAN BINTI JALIL
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Selangor,
Date: 20 February 2020

TRUSTEE’S REPORT
to the Unitholders of IGB REIT (Established In Malaysia)
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements of IGB Real Estate Investment Trust (“the Fund”) and its subsidiary (“the Group”) give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Group and of the Fund as at 31 December 2019, and of their financial performance and their cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

We have audited the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 
2019 of the Group and of the Fund, and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in net asset value and statements of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on 
pages 64 to 106.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements” section of our 
report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence and other ethical responsibilities

We are independent of the Group and of the Fund in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics, Conduct and Practice) of the 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.

Our audit approach

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Fund. In particular, we considered where the Directors of the Manager made subjective judgements; for example, in respect 
of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our 
audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including among other matters, consideration of whether there was 
evidence of bias that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, 
taking into account the structure of the Group and of the Fund, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group and 
the Fund operate.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the 
Group and of the Fund for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and 
of the Fund as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
Fair value of investment properties

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s and the Fund’s investment 
properties, carried at fair value, amounted to RM4.96 billion. 

The fair values of the Group’s and the Fund’s investment properties 
were carried out by an external valuer. 

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the balance and 
the complexities in determining the fair values of the investment 
properties, which involves significant judgement and estimations.

We evaluated the competence of the external valuer which included 
consideration of their qualifications, expertise and objectivity.

We met with the external valuer to discuss the methodology and 
assumptions used in the valuation.

We performed testing on the rental rates and rental periods used in 
the valuation, on a sample basis, to satisfy ourselves of the accuracy 
and completeness of the property information supplied to the external 
valuer by management. This included agreeing a sample of these data 
back to the underlying lease agreements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
to the Unitholders of IGB REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST (Established In Malaysia)
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Report on the audit of the financial statements  (continued)

Key audit matters  (continued)

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matters
Fair value of investment properties (continued)

The existence of significant judgement and estimation uncertainty 
could result in material misstatement, which is why we have given 
special audit focus and attention to this area.

Refer to Note 3(b) (Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – 
Investment Properties), Note 4 (Critical Accounting Estimates and 
Judgements) and Note 6 (Investment Properties).

We tested the inputs underpinning the valuation, such as reversionary 
rental, car park income, other income, outgoings and allowance for 
void, by agreeing them to the underlying lease data or comparing 
to historical trends. We also assessed the reasonableness of the 
capitalisation rates used by the valuer, with references to comparable 
real estate investment trusts. We discussed with and challenged the 
valuer on certain inputs and estimates.

We reviewed the disclosures of the sensitivity analysis on the 
capitalisation rates on term and reversionary periods and the 
outgoings, underpinning the valuation. 

Based on the above procedures performed, we did not identify any 
material exceptions.

Information other than the financial statements and auditors’ report thereon

The Directors of the Manager are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Corporate Information, Corporate 
Overview, Business Review and Governance Sections; the Manager’s Report and the Trustee’s Report, but does not include the financial 
statements of the Group and the Fund and our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors of the Manager for the financial statements

The Directors of the Manager are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund that give a true and fair 
view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards. The Directors of the Manager 
are also responsible for such internal control as the Directors of the Manager determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements of the Group and of the Fund that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund, the Directors of the Manager are responsible for assessing the Group’s and 
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless the Directors of the Manager either intend to liquidate the Group or the Fund or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and 
International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
to the Unitholders of IGB REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST (Established In Malaysia)
(continued)
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Report on the audit of the financial statements  (continued)

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements  (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards on Auditing, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

(a)	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

(b)	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s and the Fund’s internal controls.

(c)	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
the Directors of the Manager. 

(d)	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors of the Manager’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or 
the Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events 
or conditions may cause the Group or the Fund to cease to continue as a going concern. 

(e)	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

(f)	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the Group to 
express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Directors of the Manager regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the Directors of the Manager with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, 
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the Directors of the Manager, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 
financial statements of the Group and of the Fund for the current year and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such communication. 

OTHER MATTERS

This report is made solely to the unitholders of the Fund and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the 
content of this report.

PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS PLT						      GAN WEE FONG
LLP0014401-LCA & AF 1146							       03253/01/2021 J 
Chartered Accountants							       Chartered Accountant

Kuala Lumpur
20 February 2020

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
to the Unitholders of IGB REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST (Established In Malaysia)
(continued)
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	 Group 	 Fund

2019 2018 2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current assets
Plant and equipment 5 5,655 7,964 5,655 7,964
Investment properties 6 4,960,000 4,960,000 4,960,000 4,960,000
Investment in subsidiary 7 - - - * - *

Total non-current assets 4,965,655 4,967,964 4,965,655 4,967,964

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 8 29,787 27,879 58,240 55,371
Cash and bank balances 9 225,509 207,123 197,056 179,631

Total current assets 255,296 235,002 255,296 235,002

Total assets 5,220,951 5,202,966 5,220,951 5,202,966

Financed by
Unitholders’ fund
Unitholders’ capital 10 4,462,484 4,436,366 4,462,484 4,436,366
Accumulated losses (678,521) (669,675) (678,521) (669,675)

Total unitholders’ fund 3,783,963 3,766,691 3,783,963 3,766,691

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 11 1,199,285 1,199,025 - -
Trade and other payables 12 - - 1,199,285 1,199,025

Total non-current liabilities 1,199,285 1,199,025 1,199,285 1,199,025

Current liabilities
Borrowings 11 14,900 14,900 - -
Trade and other payables 12 222,803 222,350 237,703 237,250

Total current liabilities 237,703 237,250 237,703 237,250

Total liabilities 1,436,988 1,436,275 1,436,988 1,436,275

Total unitholders’ fund and liabilities 5,220,951 5,202,966 5,220,951 5,202,966

Net asset value (“NAV”)
- before income distribution 4,108,669 4,091,658 4,108,669 4,091,658
- after income distribution 3,783,963 3,766,691 3,783,963 3,766,691

Number of units in circulation (‘000 units) 10 3,548,828 3,534,810 3,548,828 3,534,810

NAV per unit (RM)
- before income distribution 1.1578 1.1575 1.1578 1.1575
- after income distribution 1.0663 1.0656 1.0663 1.0656

*	 Denotes RM2 share capital in IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 DECEMBER 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000

Gross rental income 401,441 388,776

Revenue from contracts with customers 150,691 146,913

Gross revenue 13 552,132 535,689

Utilities expenses (49,502) (48,054)
Maintenance expenses (26,320) (25,319)
Quit rent and assessment (15,024) (15,024)
Reimbursement costs 14 (50,057) (48,669)

Other operating expenses/upgrades (12,443) (12,373)

Property operating expenses (153,346) (149,439)

Net property income 398,786 386,250

Changes in fair value on investment properties - 30,000

Interest income 13 7,128 6,756

Net investment income 405,914 423,006

Manager’s management fees 15 (35,499) (34,680)

Trustees’ fees (320) (320)

Valuation fees (117) (312)

Other trust expenses (1,058) (881)

Finance costs 16 (53,060) (53,060)

Profit before taxation 315,860 333,753

Taxation 17 - -

Profit after taxation 315,860 333,753

Other comprehensive income, net of tax - -

Total comprehensive income attributable to unitholders 315,860 333,753

Profit after taxation is made up as follows:-

Realised 315,860 303,753

Unrealised - 30,000

315,860 333,753

Basic earnings per unit (sen) 18 8.91 9.45

Diluted earnings per unit (sen) 18 8.91 9.45

Total comprehensive income 315,860 333,753

Distribution adjustments 19 25,994 7,677

Distributable income 341,854 341,430

Distribution per unit (sen) 19 9.16 9.19

STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 DECEMBER 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Unitholders’ 
capital

Accumulated 
losses*

Total
unitholders’

funds

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group and Fund

As at 1 January 2019 4,436,366 (669,675) 3,766,691

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to unitholders - 315,860 315,860

Distribution to unitholders 19 - (324,706) (324,706)

Net total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to unitholders - (8,846) (8,846)

Unitholders’ transactions

Issue of new Units

- Manager’s management fees paid in Units 10 26,118 - 26,118

Increase in net assets resulting from unitholders’ transactions 26,118 - 26,118

As at 31 December 2019 4,462,484 (678,521) 3,783,963

As at 1 January 2018 4,401,760 (678,461) 3,723,299

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to unitholders - 333,753 333,753
Distribution to unitholders 19 - (324,967) (324,967)
Net total comprehensive income for the year attributable to unitholders - 8,786 8,786

Unitholders’ transactions
Issue of new Units
- Manager’s management fees paid in Units 10 34,606 - 34,606
Increase in net assets resulting from unitholders’ transactions 34,606 - 34,606
As at 31 December 2018 4,436,366 (669,675) 3,766,691

*	 IGB REIT adopted predecessor accounting as its accounting policy to account for business combinations under common control on 21 
September 2012. In accordance with this policy, the difference between the fair value of the Units issued as consideration and the aggregate 
carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities acquired as of the date of the business combination is included in equity as accumulated 
losses.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSET VALUE 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 DECEMBER 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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	 Group 	 Fund

2019 2018 2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation 315,860 333,753 315,860 333,753

Adjustments for:-

Changes in fair value on investment properties 6 - (30,000) - (30,000)

Manager’s management fee payable in Units 15 35,499 34,680 35,499 34,680

Finance costs 53,060 53,060 53,060 53,060

Interest income (7,128) (6,756) (7,128) (6,756)
Movement of loss allowance of trade receivables (211) (453) (211) (453)

Depreciation of plant and equipment 2,660 2,737 2,660 2,737

Plant and equipment written-off 16 99 16 99

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (1) - (1) -

Operating income before changes in working capital 399,755 387,120 399,755 387,120

Net change in trade and other receivables (1,488) (3,170) (1,464) (3,417)

Net change in trade and other payables (5,781) (142) (5,781) (142)

Net cash generated from operating activities 392,486 383,808 392,510 383,561

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment (367) (580) (367) (580)

Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment 1 - 1 -

Interest received 6,919 7,800 5,934 6,769

Movement in fixed deposits with maturity of more than 
3 months 30 147,299 - 147,300

Movement in pledged deposit (960) (1,277) - -

Net cash generated from investing activities 5,623 153,242 5,568 153,489

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid (52,800) (52,800) (52,800) (52,800)

Income distribution paid to unitholders (327,853) (416,313) (327,853) (416,313)

Net cash used in financing activities (380,653) (469,113) (380,653) (469,113)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 17,456 67,937 17,425 67,937

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 179,632 111,695 179,631 111,694

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9 197,088 179,632 197,056 179,631

Details of the reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is disclosed in Note 9.

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Financial Year Ended 31 DECEMBER 2019

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1	 GENERAL

	 (A)	 Background

		  IGB Real Estate Investment Trust (“IGB REIT” or “Fund”) is a Malaysia-domiciled real estate investment trust established on 25 July 
2012 pursuant to the deed of trust dated 18 July 2012, as amended by the first amending and restating deed dated 25 October 2018 
(“Deed”) between the Manager and MTrustee Berhad (“Trustee”), listed on Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa 
Securities”) on 21 September 2012 and regulated by the Securities Commission Act 1993, the Securities Commission Malaysia’s 
Guidelines on Listed Real Estate Investment Trusts (“REIT Guidelines”), the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the Rules 
of Bursa Malaysia Depository (“Depository”) and taxation laws and rulings. IGB REIT will continue its operations until such time 
as determined by the Manager and the Trustee as provided under the provisions of Clause 27 of the Deed. The addresses of the 
Manager’s registered office and principal place of business are as follows:-

Registered office

Level 32, The Gardens South Tower
Mid Valley City
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur

Principal place of business

Mid Valley Megamall and The Gardens Mall
Mid Valley City
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur

		  The principal investment policy of IGB REIT is to invest, directly and indirectly, in a diversified portfolio of income producing real estate 
used primarily for retail purposes in Malaysia and overseas as well as real estate related assets. Real estate used primarily for retail 
purposes would include retail properties and mixed used development with a retail component. The principal activity of the subsidiary, 
incorporated in Malaysia, is disclosed in Note 7 to the financial statements.

		  The consolidated financial statements comprise the Fund and its subsidiary (“Group”). 

		  The Manager’s key objective is to provide unitholders with regular and stable distributions, sustainable long term IGB REIT’s units 
(“Unit”) price and distributable income and capital growth, while maintaining an appropriate capital structure.

		  The Manager regards IGB Berhad, a company incorporated in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Securities, as the 
holding company.

		  The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution by 
the Directors of the Manager on 20 February 2020.

	 (B)	 Fee Structure

		  IGB REIT has entered into service agreements in relation to the management of IGB REIT and its property operations. The fee 
structures are as follows:-

		  (a)	 Property management fees

			   The property manager, Chartwell ITAC International Sdn Bhd, is entitled to property management fee of RM20,000 per month 
(excluding sales and service tax). In addition, the property manager is also entitled to full disbursement of costs and expenses 
properly incurred in the operation, maintenance, management and marketing of the properties held by IGB REIT (“Permitted 
Expenses”) as well as fees and reimbursements for Permitted Expenses payable to its service providers.

		  (b)	 Manager’s management fees

			   Pursuant to the Deed, the Manager is entitled to receive the following fees from IGB REIT, in the forms of cash, new Units or a 
combination thereof at the election of the Management Company in its sole discretion:-

			   i)	 a base fee (“Base Fee”) of up to 1.0% per annum of the total asset value of IGB REIT (excluding cash and bank balances 
which are held in non-interest bearing accounts).

			   ii)	 a performance fee (“Performance Fee”) of up to 5.0% per annum of net property income in the relevant financial year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

1	 GENERAL  (continued)

	 (B)	 Fee Structure  (continued)

		  (b)	 Manager’s management fees  (continued)

			   iii)	 an acquisition fee of 1.0% of the transaction value (being total purchase consideration) of any real estate and real estate-
related assets directly or indirectly acquired from time to time by the Trustee or one or more special purpose vehicle (“SPV”) 
on behalf of IGB REIT pro-rated, if applicable, to the proportion of IGB REIT’s interest.

				    In the case of acquisition of SPVs or holding entities which holds real estate, 1.0% of the underlying value (as determined by 
an independent valuer appointed by the Trustee) of any Real Estate (which are directly or indirectly held through one or more 
SPVs of IGB REIT) pro-rated, if applicable, to the proportion of IGB REIT’s interest.

				    Any payment to third party agents or brokers in connection with the acquisition of any real estate and real estate-related 
assets for IGB REIT shall not be paid by the Manager out of the acquisition fee received or to be received by the Manager 
(but shall be borne by IGB REIT).

				    For the avoidance of doubt, no acquisition fee is payable with respect to acquisition of the subject properties in connection 
with the listing of IGB REIT but acquisition fee is payable with respect to all other transactions (which includes related party 
and non-related party transactions), including acquisitions from the sponsor.

			   iv)	 a divestment fee of 0.5% of the transaction value (being total sale consideration) of any real estate and real estate-related 
assets directly or indirectly sold or divested from time to time by the Trustee or one or more SPVs on behalf of IGB REIT pro-
rated, if applicable, to the proportion of IGB REIT’s interest.

				    In the case of divestment of SPVs or holding entities which holds real estate, 0.5% of the underlying value (as determined by 
an independent valuer appointed by the Trustee) of any real estate (which are directly or indirectly held through one or more 
SPVs of IGB REIT) pro-rated, if applicable, to the proportion of IGB REIT’s interest.

				    Any payment to third party agents or brokers in connection with the sale or divestment of any real estate and real estate-
related assets for IGB REIT shall not be paid by the Manager out of the divestment fee received or to be received by the 
Manager (but shall be borne by IGB REIT).

				    For the avoidance of doubt, the divestment fee is payable with respect to all transactions (which includes related party and 
non-related party transactions), including divestments to the sponsor, as well as for compulsory acquisitions.

			   The payment of the Manager’s management fee in the form of new Units will be in accordance with the following formula:-

New Units to be issued as payment of the 
Manager’s management fee =

Manager’s management fee
payable in Units

Market Price

			   For this purpose, “Market Price” means the volume weighted average market price of the Units for the last 5 market days 
preceding the following events:-

			   (i)	 in respect of the Base Fee and Performance Fee, the announcement of the relevant quarterly financial reports; or

			   (ii)	 in respect of the acquisition fee and divestment fee, the completion of the relevant acquisition/divestment,

			   (each a “Trigger Event”).

			   With reference to any book closing date, where the Trigger Event is before but the issuance of the new Units relating to such 
Trigger Event is after the said book closing date, the Market Price will be further adjusted for the entitlement relating to such book 
closing date.

			   The Manager will make an immediate announcement to Bursa Securities disclosing the number of new Units to be issued and the 
issue price of the new Units when new Units are issued as payment for management fee. Payment of the management fees in 
Units shall also be subject to IGB REIT complying with the public spread requirements stated in the Listing Requirements of Bursa 
Securities and there being no adverse implications under Malaysian Code on Take-Overs and Mergers 2016.

		  (c)	 Trustee’s fees

			   In accordance to the Deed, an annual trustee fee of up to 0.03% per annum of NAV of IGB REIT is to be paid to Trustee.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

2	 BASIS OF PREPARATION

	 (a)	 Statement of compliance

		  The financial statements of the Group and the Fund have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Deed, Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Standards.

		  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except as disclosed in the summary of significant 
accounting policies.

		  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with MFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported period. It also requires Directors of the 
Manager to exercise their judgement in the process of applying accounting policies. Although these estimates and judgement are based 
on the Directors of the Manager’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results could differ. The areas involving a higher 
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed 
in Note 4.

	 (b)	 Standards and amendments to published standards and interpretations that are effective

		  The Group and the Fund have applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for the financial year beginning on 1 
January 2019:-

		  •	 MFRS 16 ‘Leases’
		  •	 Annual Improvements to MFRSs 2015 – 2017 Cycle

		  The Group and the Fund have applied MFRS 16 ‘Leases’ for the first time in the 2019 financial statements with the date of initial 
application of 1 January 2019 by applying the simplified retrospective transition method.

		  The Group and the Fund, principally as a lessor, continue to classify the leases as operating leases. From a lessee perspective, the 
impact of leases entered by the Group and the Fund is immaterial as they comprise mainly of short-term leases and/or leases for which 
the underlying assets are of low value. 

		  The adoption of new standards and amendments to published standards and interpretations above did not have any material impact on 
the financial statements of the Group and of the Fund in the current period or any prior period.

	 (c)	 Standards and amendments that have been issued but not yet effective

		  The new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations that are effective for financial year beginning after 1 January 
2020 and are applicable to the Group and the Fund are as follows:-

		  •	 Amendments to MFRS 3 ‘Definition of a Business’ (effective 1 January 2020) revise the definition of a business. To be considered 
as a business, an acquisition would have to include an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the 
ability to create outputs.

			   The amendments provide guidance to determine whether an input and a substantive process are present, including situation 
where an acquisition does not have outputs. To be a business without outputs, there will need to be an organised workforce. It 
is also no longer necessary to assess whether market participants are capable of replacing missing elements or integrating the 
acquired activities and assets.

			   In addition, the revised definition of the term ‘outputs’ is narrower, focusses on goods or services provided to customers, 
generating investment returns and other income but excludes returns in the form of cost savings. 

			   The amendments introduce an optional simplified assessment known as ‘concentration test’ that, if met, eliminates the need for 
further assessment. Under this concentration test, if substantially all of the fair value of gross assets acquired is concentrated in a 
single identifiable asset (or a group of similar assets), the assets acquired would not represent a business.

			   The amendments shall be applied prospectively.

		  The Group and the Fund will continue to assess the potential impact, if any, of new standards and amendments on the financial 
statements and expect the assessment to be completed prior to effective date of such standards and amendments. 



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 71

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

3	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to the period presented in these financial statements.

	 (a)	 Consolidation

		  (i)	 Business combination under common control

			   IGB REIT applied predecessor accounting to account for business combinations under common control on 21 September 2012, 
i.e. combination involving entities or businesses under common control. Under the predecessor accounting, assets and liabilities 
acquired are not restated to their respective fair values but at the carrying amounts from the consolidated financial statements 
of the holding company. The difference between any consideration given and the aggregate carrying amounts of the assets and 
liabilities (at the date of the transaction) of the acquired business is recorded as an adjustment to retained earnings. No additional 
goodwill is recognised. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. The acquired business’ results and the related balance 
sheet items are recognised prospectively from the date on which the business combination between entities under common control 
occurred.

		  (ii)	 Subsidiary

			   Subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct 
the relevant activities of the entity. Subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. It is 
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

			   The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the acquisition 
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from 
a contingent consideration arrangement and fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Identifiable assets 
acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially 
at their fair values at the acquisition date.

			   The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at 
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

			   The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date 
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is recognised 
as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and fair value of previous equity interest 
measured is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree, the difference is recognised directly in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

			   Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

			   If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the 
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date and any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

			   Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance with 
MFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” in the statement of comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is 
not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

			   Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.

			   Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Group.

		  (iii)	 Investment in subsidiary

			   In the Fund’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. On 
disposal of investment in subsidiary, the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

			   The amounts due from subsidiary of which the Fund does not expect repayment in the foreseeable future are considered as part of 
the Fund’s investment in the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

3	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued)

	 (b) 	 Investment properties

		  Investment properties are held for long term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and are not occupied by the Group and the 
Fund.

		  Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including related transaction costs and borrowing costs if the investment property 
meets the definition of qualifying asset. 

		  After initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value. Fair value is based on valuation using an income approach, 
where cash flows projections are capitalised using a capitalisation rate and takes into account the unexpired period, yield and 
outgoings, where applicable. Valuations are performed as of the financial position date by registered valuers who hold recognised and 
relevant professional qualifications and have relevant experience in valuing the investment properties.

		  The fair value of investment properties reflects, among others, rental income from current leases and other assumptions that market 
participants would make when pricing the investment properties under current market conditions.

		  Subsequent expenditure is recognised to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the Fund, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repair, 
maintenance and upgrade costs are expensed when incurred. When part of an investment property is replaced, the carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognised.

		  Changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Investment properties are derecognised either when 
they have been disposed or when the investment properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. 

		  Where the Group and the Fund dispose of an investment property at fair value in an arm’s length transaction, the carrying value 
immediately prior to the sale is adjusted to the transaction price, and the adjustment is recorded in the statement of comprehensive 
income as a net gain or loss from fair value adjustment on such investment property.

	 (c)	 Plant and equipment

		  Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost also includes 
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset. 

		  Cost of plant and equipment includes purchase price and any direct attributable costs. Cost includes the cost of replacing part of an 
existing plant and equipment at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are met and excludes the costs of day-to-day 
servicing of the plant and equipment.

		  Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the Fund, and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 
statement of comprehensive income during the financial period in which they are incurred.

		  Depreciation on capital work-in-progress commences when the assets are ready for their intended use. Plant and equipment 
are depreciated on a straight-line basis to allocate the cost of the assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, 
summarised as follows:-

Motor vehicles 20%
Furniture and fittings 12.5%
Equipment 12.5%
Information technology equipment 33 1/3%
Plant and machinery 10%

		  Residual values and useful lives of assets are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The 
assessment of expected residual values and estimated useful lives of assets is carried out on an annual basis. 

		  At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Fund assess whether there is any indication of impairment. If such indications 
exist, an analysis is performed to assess whether the carrying amount of the asset is fully recoverable. A write-down is made if the 
carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. Please refer to accounting policy on impairment of non-financial assets (Note 3(h)).

		  Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing net disposal proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the 
statement of comprehensive income.
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	 (d)	 Financial assets

		  (i)	 Classification

			   The Group and the Fund classify financial assets at amortised cost. The classification depends on the Group and the Fund 
business model for managing the financial assets and the contracted terms of the cash flows.

		  (ii)	 Recognition and derecognition

			   Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group and the Fund commit 
to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets 
have expired or have been transferred and the Group and the Fund have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.

		  (iii)	 Initial measurement 

			   At initial recognition, the Group and the Fund measure a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income.

			   Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely 
payment of principal and interest (“SPPI”).

		  (iv)	 Subsequent measurement – gain or loss

			   Subsequent measurement of financial asset depends on the Group’s and the Fund’s business model for managing the asset and 
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. 

			   The Group and the Fund classify financial assets at amortised cost.

			   Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent SPPI are measured at 
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest rate method. 
Any gain or loss arising from derecognition is recognised directly in the statement of comprehensive income and presented in 
other gain or loss together with foreign exchange gain and loss. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the 
statement of comprehensive income.

		  (v)	 Subsequent measurement – Impairment

			   The Group and the Fund assess on a forward looking basis the expected credit loss (“ECL”) associated with financial assets 
carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk. Trade and other receivables are subject to the ECL model. 

			   While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of MFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”, the 
impairment loss was immaterial.

			   ECL represents a probability-weighted estimate of the difference between present value of cash flows according to contract and 
present value of cash flows the Group and the Fund expect to receive, over the remaining life of the financial instrument. 

			   The measurement of ECL reflects:

			   •	 an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
			   •	 the time value of money; and
			   •	 reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past events, 

current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

			   Simplified approach for trade receivables and intercompany balances

			   The Group and the Fund apply the MFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” simplified approach to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL 
for all trade receivables. Note 24.1(b) sets out measurement details of ECL.
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	 (d)	 Financial assets  (continued)

		  (v)	 Subsequent measurement – Impairment  (continued)

			   General 3-stage approach for other receivables, deposits and non-trade intercompany balances

			   The Group and the Fund measure ECL through loss allowance at an amount equal to twelve (12) month ECL if credit risk on a 
financial instrument or a group of financial instruments has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For all other financial 
instruments, a loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime ECL is required. Note 24.1(b) sets out measurement details of ECL.

			   Significant increase in credit risk

			   The Group and the Fund consider the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant 
increase in credit risk, the Group and the Fund compare the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with 
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. The Group and the Fund take into account the available, reasonable and 
supportable forward-looking information in the measurement of ECL.

			   The following indicators are incorporated:- 

			   •	 internal credit rating and/or external credit rating (if available);
			   •	 actual or expected significant changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant 

change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;
			   •	 actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor;
			   •	 significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;
			   •	 significant changes in the value of the collateral supporting the obligation or in the quality of third-party guarantees or credit 

enhancements; or
			   •	 significant changes in the expected credit performance and payment behaviour of the debtor, including changes in the 

payment status of debtor in the group.

			   Definition of default and credit-impaired financial assets

			   The Group and the Fund define a financial instrument as default, which is aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, when the 
financial asset meets one or more of the following criteria:-

				    Quantitative criteria
				    The Group and the Fund define a financial instrument as default, when the counterparty fails to make contractual payment 

within 90 days when fall due and/or when legal action is taken against the counterparty.

				    Qualitative criteria
				    The debtor meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the debtor is in a financial difficulty or it is becoming probable 

that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, financial restructuring or will become insolvent.

			   Financial instruments that are credit-impaired were assessed on individual basis.

			   Write-off – trade receivables and intercompany balances

			   Trade receivables and intercompany balances are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators of no 
reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment or settlement plan with 
the Group and the Fund, and/or legal action is taken against the debtor. 

			   Impairment losses on trade receivables and intercompany balances are presented as net impairment losses within the net property 
income. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited within the net property income.

			   Write-off – other receivables, deposits and non-trade intercompany balance

			   The Group and the Fund write off financial assets, in whole or in part, when they have exhausted all practical recovery efforts 
and have concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. The assessment of no reasonable expectation of recovery is 
based on unavailability of debtor’s sources of income or assets to generate sufficient future cash flows to repay the amount. The 
Group and the Fund may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off will result in impairment gains.



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 75

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

3	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (continued)

	 (e)	 Offsetting financial instruments 

		  Financial assets and liabilities can be offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal 
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy.

	 (f)	 Trade and other receivables 

		  Trade receivables are amounts due from customers and tenants for services performed in the ordinary course of business. Other 
receivables generally arise from transactions outside the usual operating activities of the Group and the Fund. If collection is expected 
in one (1) year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are 
presented as non-current assets.

		  Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing 
components, where they are recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus 
transaction costs. Transaction costs include transfer taxes and duties. 

		  After recognition, trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
impairment allowance.

	 (g)	 Trade and other payables

		  Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers, vendors or contractors. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one (1) year or less (or in 
the normal operating cycle of the business, if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. Deposits received from tenants 
are classified as current liabilities.

		  Trade payables, deposits received from tenants and other payables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs 
incurred, which include transfer taxes and duties, if applicable, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

	 (h)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

		  Plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).

		  The impairment loss is charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the period in which they are incurred and any 
subsequent increase in recoverable amount is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income during the period in which they 
are incurred.

	 (i)	 Cash and cash equivalents

		  For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in hand, deposits held at call with licensed 
financial institutions, other short term and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three (3) months or less, that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. Bank overdrafts, if any, are 
included within borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

	 (j)	 Unitholders’ capital

		  Unitholders’ contributions are classified as equity when there is no obligation to transfer cash or other assets, nor they are redeemable 
at the unitholders’ option. Any consideration received or distributions paid is added or deducted directly from equity. Incremental external 
costs directly attributable to the issue of new Units are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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	 (k)	 Borrowings 

		  Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. In subsequent periods, borrowings are stated at 
amortised cost using the effective yield method; any difference between proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value 
is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income over the period of borrowings. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities 
unless the Group and the Fund have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve (12) months after the 
reporting date.

		  Borrowings costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the 
period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until 
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

		  All other borrowing costs are recognised in statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.

		  Fees paid on the establishment of borrowings are recognised as transaction costs of the borrowings to the extent that it is probable 
that some or all of the borrowings will be issued. In this case, the fees are deferred until the issuance occurs. To the extent there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the borrowings will be issued, the fees are capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity and 
amortised over the period of the borrowings.

		  Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to other 
party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

	 (l)	 Revenue/income recognition

		  Rental income on operating leases

		  When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the asset is included in the statement of financial position based on the nature of 
the asset.

		  Rental income on operating leases is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. Rental income is shown net of 
rebates and discounts. Rental income includes base rent, percentage rent and other rent related income from tenants. Base rent is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Percentage rent is recognised based on sales reported by tenants. When the 
Group and the Fund provide incentives or rebates to the tenants, the cost of incentives or rebates is recognised over the lease term, on 
a straight-line basis, as a reduction of rental income. Initial direct cost incurred by the Group and the Fund in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease is recognised as an asset and amortised over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

		  Revenue from contracts with customers

		  Revenue which represents income from the Group’s and the Fund’s principal activities within the ordinary course of business and is 
recognised by reference to each distinct performance obligation in the contract with customer when or as the Group and the Fund 
transfer the control of the goods or services in a contract and the customer obtains control of the goods or services. Depending on the 
substance of the respective contract with customer, the control of the promised goods or services may transfer over time or at a point in 
time. 

		  A contract with customer exists when the contract has commercial substance, the Group and the Fund, and their customer have 
approved the contract and intend to perform their respective obligations, the Group’s and the Fund’s, and the customer’s rights 
regarding the goods or services to be transferred and the payment terms can be identified, and it is probable that the Group and the 
Fund, will collect the consideration to which they will be entitled to in exchange of such goods or services.

		  Specific revenue recognition criteria for each of the Group’s and the Fund’s principal business activities are as described below:-

		  (i)	 Utilities recoveries

			   Recoveries from utilities are recognised upon supply, distribution and billing of utilities to the customer and the customer receives 
and consumes the utilities.

		  (ii)	 Advertising and promotional income

			   Advertising and promotional income is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered and the customer 
receives and consumes the economic benefits provided by the Group and the Fund, and the Group and the Fund have a present 
right to receive payment for such services.
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	 (l)	 Revenue/income recognition  (continued)

		  Revenue from contracts with customers  (continued)

		  (iii)	 Car park income and other income

			   Car park income and other income are recognised upon services being rendered.

		  (iv)	 Service charge

			   Service charge is recognised upon services being rendered to the tenants over the lease term.

		  Interest income

		  Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis, taking into account the principal outstanding and the effective interest rate 
over the period of maturity, unless collectability is in doubt, in which case it is recognised on a cash receipt basis.

	 (m)	 Manager’s management fees

		  Manager’s management fees are recognised in statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred. If, the 
payment of the Manager’s management fees is in the form of new Units, such payment is determined by reference to the market price 
of the Units as set out in Note 1(B)(b).

	 (n) 	 Income tax

		  Tax is recognised in statement of comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

		  The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 
period.

		  Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject 
to interpretation. Provisions are established where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. This 
liability is measured using the single best estimate of the most likely outcome.

		  Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 3(b), the amount 
of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on the sale of those assets at their carrying value at the 
reporting date unless the property is depreciable and is held with the objective to consume substantially all of the economic benefits 
embodied in the investment property over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is 
measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

	 (o)	 Leases

		  Accounting policies applied till 31 December 2018

		  A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment, or series of payments, the right to use an 
asset for an agreed period of time.

		  Leases of assets where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating 
leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of 
comprehensive income on the straight-line basis during the lease period in which they are incurred.

		  Accounting policies applied from 1 January 2019

		  (a)	 Accounting by lessee

			   Leases are recognised as right-of-use (‘ROU’) asset and a corresponding liability at the date on which the leased asset is available 
for use (i.e. the commencement date).

			   Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. Consideration in the contract is allocated to the lease and non-lease 
components based on their relative standalone prices.
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	 (o)	 Leases  (continued)

		  Lease term

		  In determining the lease term, facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to 
exercise a termination option are considered. Extension options (or periods after termination options) are only included in the lease term 
if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not to be terminated).

		  The lease term is reassessed upon the occurrence of a significant event or change in circumstances that is within the control of the 
Group and the Fund and affect whether the Group and the Fund are reasonably certain to exercise an option not previously included in 
the determination of lease term, or not to exercise an option previously included in the determination of lease term. A revision in lease 
term results in remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

		  ROU assets

		  ROU assets are initially measured at cost comprising the following:

		  •	 The amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
		  •	 Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentive received;
		  •	 Any initial direct costs; and
		  •	 Decommissioning or restoration costs.

		  ROU assets that are not investment properties are subsequently measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss 
(if any). The ROU assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. 
If the Group and the Fund are reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the ROU assets are depreciated over the underlying 
asset’s useful life. In addition, the ROU assets are adjusted for certain remeasurement of the lease liabilities.

		  Lease liabilities

		  Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments 
include the following:

		  •	 Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentive receivable;
		  •	 Variable lease payments that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the commencement 

date;
		  •	 Amounts expected to be payable under residual value guarantees;
		  •	 The exercise price of a purchase and extension options if it is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
		  •	 Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group and the Fund exercising that option.

		  Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally 
the case for leases in the Group and the Fund, the lessee’s incremental borrowing is used. This is the rate that the individual lessee 
would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the ROU in a similar economic environment with 
similar term, security and conditions.

		  Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the statement of comprehensive income 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

		  Variable lease payments that depend on sales are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the 
condition that triggers those payments occurs.

		  Lease liabilities are presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position. Interest expense on the lease liability is 
presented within the finance cost in the statement of comprehensive income.

		  Short term leases and leases of low value assets

		  Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of twelve (12) months or less. Payments associated with short-term leases and low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income. 

		  (b)	 Accounting by lessor

			   As a lessor, the Group and the Fund determine at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. 
To classify each lease, the Group and the Fund make an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee. As part of this assessment, the Group and the 
Fund consider certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.
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	 (o)	 Leases  (continued)

		  Finance leases

		  The Group and the Fund classify a lease as a finance lease if the lease transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee.

		  The Group and the Fund derecognise the underlying asset and recognise a receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in a 
finance lease. Net investment in a finance lease is measured at an amount equal to the sum of the present value of lease payments 
from lessee and the unguaranteed residual value of the underlying asset. Initial direct costs are also included in the initial measurement 
of the net investment. The net investment is subject to impairment under MFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”. In addition, the Group and 
the Fund review regularly the estimated unguaranteed residual value.

		  Lease income is recognised over the term of the lease using the net investment method so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return. The Group and the Fund revise the lease income allocation if there is a reduction in the estimated unguaranteed residual value.

		  Operating leases

		  The Group and the Fund classify a lease as an operating lease if the lease does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee.

		  The Group and the Fund recognise lease payments received under operating lease as lease income on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term.

		  When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the asset is included in the lessor’s statement of financial position based on the 
nature of the asset. 

		  Rental income on operating leases is recognised over the term of the lease on a straight-line basis. Rental income is shown net of 
rebates and discounts. Rental income includes base rent, percentage rent and other rent related income from tenants. Base rent is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Percentage rent is recognised based on sales reported by tenants. When the 
Group and the Fund provide incentives or rebates to the tenants, the cost of incentives or rebates is recognised over the lease term, on 
a straight-line basis, as a reduction of rental income. Initial direct cost incurred by the Group and the Fund in negotiating and arranging 
an operating lease is recognised as an asset and amortised over the lease term on the same basis as the rental income.

		  Separating lease and non-lease components

		  If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Group and the Fund allocate the consideration in the contract to the 
lease and non-lease components based on the stand-alone selling prices in accordance with the principles in MFRS 15 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers”.

	 (p) 		 Functional and presentation currency

		  Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group 
and the Fund operate (“functional currency”). The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the Group’s and the 
Fund’s functional and presentation currency.

	 (q)	 Earnings per unit

		  The earnings per Unit (“EPU”) are presented on basic and diluted format.

		  Basic EPU is calculated by dividing the total comprehensive income attributable to unitholders by the weighted average number of Units 
outstanding during the period.

		  Diluted EPU is determined by adjusting the total comprehensive income attributable to unitholders against the weighted average 
number of Units outstanding adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units.

	 (r) 	 Segment reporting

		  Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker.

		  The chief operating decision makers, who are responsible for allocating resources, assessing performance of the operating segments 
and making strategic decisions for the Group and the Fund, have been identified as the Directors of the Manager.
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	 (s) 	 Net asset value (“NAV”)

		  NAV is the value of the total assets less the value of the total liabilities.

	 (t) 		 Distribution of income 

		  Distribution of income should only be made from realised gains or realised income in accordance with the REIT Guidelines.

		  Distribution of income should be made after the Manager has taken into consideration the total returns for the period, income for the 
period, cash flow for distribution, stability and sustainability of income and the investment objective and distribution policy of IGB REIT. 
Liability is recognised for the amount of any distribution of income not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

		  Distribution adjustments are disclosed in Note 19.

4 	 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

	 Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated by the Directors of the Manager and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

	 The Group and the Fund make estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
rarely equal the related actual results. To enhance the information content of the estimates, certain key variables that are anticipated to have 
material impact to the Group’s and the Fund’s results and financial position are tested for sensitivity to changes in the underlying parameters. 
The estimates and assumptions that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below.

	 Principal assumptions for estimation of fair value of investment properties

	 The principal assumptions underlying estimation of fair value of investment properties are those related to term rental, reversionary rental, 
car park income, other income, outgoings (including asset enhancement initiatives), capitalisation rate and allowance for void. 

	 Investment properties are stated at fair value based on valuations performed by One Asia Property Consultants (KL) Sdn Bhd (“Valuer”), 
an independent registered valuer who holds a recognised relevant professional qualification and has relevant experience in valuing the 
investment properties.

	 The valuations are compared with actual market yield data, actual transactions and those reported by the market, when available. 
Assumptions used are mainly based on market conditions existing at each reporting date. 

	 Sensitivity analysis on fair value of investment properties as valued by the Valuer is disclosed in Note 6.
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Group and Fund
Motor

vehicles

Furniture 
and 

fittings Equipment

Information 
technology
equipment 

Plant and 
machinery

Capital
work-in-

progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2019 691 2,695 16,332 2,255 28 123 22,124
Additions 25 85 84 173 - - 367
Disposals (3) - - (3) - - (6)
Write-offs (1) (28) (51) (18) - - (98)
Reclassification - - 118 5 - (123) -

As at 31 December 2019 712 2,752 16,483 2,412 28 - 22,387

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2019 629 1,837 9,788 1,889 17 - 14,160

Depreciation charge for the financial 
year 41 344 2,043 229 3 - 2,660

Disposals (3) - - (3) - - (6)

Write-offs (1) (22) (41) (18) - - (82)

As at 31 December 2019 666 2,159 11,790 2,097 20 - 16,732

Carrying amounts

As at 31 December 2019 46 593 4,693 315 8 - 5,655

Group and Fund
Motor

vehicles

Furniture 
and 

fittings Equipment

Information 
technology
equipment 

Plant and 
machinery

Capital
work-in-

progress Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2018 691 2,692 15,923 2,088 28 457 21,879
Additions - 134 138 185 - 123 580
Disposals *- - - - - - *-
Write-offs - (131) (186) (18) - - (335)
Reclassification - - 457 - - (457) -

As at 31 December 2018 691 2,695 16,332 2,255 28 123 22,124

Accumulated depreciation

As at 1 January 2018 562 1,597 7,804 1,682 14 - 11,659
Depreciation charge for the financial 

year 67 337 2,108 222 3 - 2,737
Disposals *- - - - - - *-
Write-offs - (97) (124) (15) - - (236)

As at 31 December 2018 629 1,837 9,788 1,889 17 - 14,160

Carrying amounts

As at 31 December 2018 62 858 6,544 366 11 123 7,964

	 *	 Amount below RM1,000
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6	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

	 Group and Fund

	 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January 4,960,000 4,930,000

Fair value gain - 30,000

As at 31 December 4,960,000 4,960,000

	 On 20 September 2012, IGB REIT acquired the investment properties of which the consideration was settled in cash for RM1,200 million and 
issuance of 3,400 million units in IGB REIT. The purchase considerations were as follows:-

	 Purchase Consideration satisfied in

Investment Properties
Units

RM’million
Cash

RM’million
Total

RM’million

Mid Valley Megamall (“MVM”) 3,413 710 4,123

The Gardens Mall (“TGM”) 837 490 1,327

Total 4,250 1,200 5,450

	 The title deed of the land for MVM is currently being held in trust by a related company.

	 MVM is charged as a security for borrowings as disclosed in Note 11.

	 Investment properties as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 are stated at fair value based on valuations performed by an 
independent registered valuer. These valuations were reviewed by the Manager and approved by the Board of Directors of the Manager as 
the determination of fair value using the income approach involves the use of certain estimates that reflect the current market conditions.

	 Based on the valuation reports dated 6 January 2020 issued by the Valuer, the fair values of MVM and TGM as at 31 December 2019 were 
RM3.665 billion (2018: RM3.665 billion) and RM1.295 billion (2018: RM1.295 billion) respectively. 

	 Fair value is determined based on income approach method using Level 3 inputs (defined as unobservable inputs for asset or liability) in the 
fair value hierarchy of MFRS 13 ‘Fair Value Measurement’. Under the income approach, the fair value of the investment properties is derived 
from an estimate of the market rental which the investment properties can reasonably be let for. Rental evidence may be obtained from 
actual passing rents commanded by the investment properties if they are tenanted. Outgoings, such as quit rent and assessment, utilities 
costs, reimbursable manpower costs, repair and maintenance, insurance premium, asset enhancement initiatives, upgrades expenses as 
well as management expenses, are then deducted from the rental income. Thereafter, the net annual rental income is capitalised at an 
appropriate current market yield to arrive at its fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
during the period in which they are reviewed.

	 The Level 3 inputs or unobservable inputs include:-

Term rental - the expected rental that the investment properties are expected to achieve and is derived from the current 
passing rental, (including revision upon renewal of tenancies during the year which is part of passing rental);

Reversionary rental - the expected rental that the investment properties are expected to achieve upon expiry of term rental;
Car park income - the rental on car park bays;
Other income - mainly percentage rent and advertising income;
Outgoings - mainly quit rent and assessment, utilities costs, reimbursable manpower costs, repair and maintenance, 

insurance premium, asset enhancement initiatives/upgrades expense and management expenses;
Capitalisation rate - based on actual location, size and condition of the investment properties and taking into account market data 

at the valuation date based on the valuers’ knowledge of the factors specific to the investment properties; and
Allowance for void - allowance provided for vacancy periods. 

	 There has been no change to the valuation techniques used during the financial year.
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7	 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY

	 Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

At cost

Unquoted shares -* -*

	 *	 Denotes RM2

Name of company Principal activities
Place of 

incorporation

	 Group’s 
	 effective interest (%)

2019 2018

IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd A special purpose vehicle to raise financing via 
the issuance of medium term notes pursuant to 
a medium term notes programme

Malaysia 100 100

8	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

	 Group 	 Fund

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Trade receivables 3,701 3,387 3,701 3,387

Amount owing by holding company 18 - 18 -

Amounts owing by related companies 1,171 694 1,171 694

Less: Loss allowance (2,432) (2,643) (2,432) (2,643)

Trade receivables – net 2,458 1,438 2,458 1,438

Accrued billings 17,955 17,773 17,955 17,773

20,413 19,211 20,413 19,211

Other receivables 1,364 583 1,305 548

Deposits 7,555 7,586 7,555 7,586

Amount owing by subsidiary - - 28,512 27,527

8,919 8,169 37,372 35,661

Prepayments 455 499 455 499

9,374 8,668 37,827 36,160

Total trade and other receivables 29,787 27,879 58,240 55,371

	 The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 approximated their fair values. 
The fair values of trade and other receivables are the discounted amount of the estimated future cash flows expected to be recoverable. 
Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates to determine their fair values.

	 The credit terms of trade receivables were seven (7) days (2018: seven (7) days).

	 The amounts owing by holding and related companies are trade in nature, unsecured and with credit terms of seven (7) days (2018: seven 
(7) days).

	 The amount owing by subsidiary represents advances, mainly to comply with the minimum required balance in Debt Service Reserve 
Account pursuant to Tranche 1, MTN (Note 11), which are unsecured and carries interest rate at 3.25% (2018: 3.80%) per annum.
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9	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

	 Group 	 Fund

2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Cash in hand 623 615 623 615

Bank balances 13,737 14,521 13,733 14,516

Deposits placed with licensed banks 211,149 191,987 182,700 164,500

Cash and bank balances 225,509 207,123 197,056 179,631

Less:-

Fixed deposits with maturity of more than 3 months - (30) - -

Pledged deposit (28,421) (27,461) - -

Cash and cash equivalents 197,088 179,632 197,056 179,631

	 Bank balances are deposits held at call with banks and earn no interest.

	 The weighted average effective interest rate of deposits with licensed banks of the Group and the Fund that were effective at the reporting 
date were 3.22% per annum (2018: 3.63%) and 3.22% per annum (2018: 3.60% per annum) respectively.

	 Deposits with licensed banks of the Group and the Fund have a weighted average maturity of 55 days (2018: 48 days) and 50 days (2018: 
41 days) respectively.

	 Included in the deposits placed with licensed banks of the Group is pledged deposit of RM28.4 million (2018: RM27.5 million), which is 
maintained in a Debt Service Reserve Account to cover a minimum of six (6) months interest for borrowings (Note 11).

	 The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:-

Group
Non-current 
borrowings

Current
borrowings

Distribution 
payable 

to unitholders Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January 2019 1,199,025 14,900 80,728 1,294,653

Cash flows:-

Interest paid - (52,800) - (52,800)

Income distribution paid to unitholders - - (327,853) (327,853)

- (52,800) (327,853) (380,653)

Non-cash changes:-

Amortisation of transaction costs 260 - - 260

Accrual for interest - 52,800 - 52,800

Distribution to unitholders - - 324,706 324,706

260 52,800 324,706 377,766

As at 31 December 2019 1,199,285 14,900 77,581 1,291,766
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9	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (continued)

	 The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:-  (continued)

Group
Non-current 
borrowings

Current
borrowings

Distribution
payable 

to unitholders Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January 2018 1,198,765 14,900 172,074 1,385,739

Cash flows:-
Interest paid - (52,800) - (52,800)
Income distribution paid to unitholders - - (416,313) (416,313)

- (52,800) (416,313) (469,113)

Non-cash changes:-
Amortisation of transaction costs 260 - - 260
Accrual for interest - 52,800 - 52,800
Distribution to unitholders - - 324,967 324,967

260 52,800 324,967 378,027

As at 31 December 2018 1,199,025 14,900 80,728 1,294,653

Fund

Non-current – 
amount due to 

subsidiary

Current – 
amount due to 

subsidiary

Distribution
payable 

to unitholders Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January 2019 1,199,025 14,900 80,728 1,294,653

Cash flows:-

Interest paid - (52,800) - (52,800)

Income distribution paid to unitholders - - (327,853) (327,853)

- (52,800) (327,853) (380,653)

Non-cash changes:-

Amortisation of transaction costs 260 - - 260

Accrual for interest - 52,800 - 52,800

Accrual for income distribution - - 324,706 324,706

260 52,800 324,706 377,766

As at 31 December 2019 1,199,285 14,900 77,581 1,291,766
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9	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (continued)

	 The reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as follows:-  (continued)

Fund

Non-current – 
amount due to 

subsidiary

Current – 
amount due to 

subsidiary

Distribution 
payable to 

unitholders Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January 2018 1,198,765 14,900 172,074 1,385,739

Cash flows:-
Interest paid - (52,800) - (52,800)
Income distribution paid to unitholders - - (416,313) (416,313)

- (52,800) (416,313) (469,113)

Non-cash changes:-
Amortisation of transaction costs 260 - - 260
Accrual for interest - 52,800 - 52,800
Accrual for income distribution - - 324,967 324,967

260 52,800 324,967 378,027

As at 31 December 2018 1,199,025 14,900 80,728 1,294,653

10	 UNITHOLDERS’ CAPITAL

	 Group and Fund

	 2019 	 2018

Number
of units Value

Number
of units Value

‘000 RM’000 ‘000 RM’000

Issued and fully paid up:

At 1 January 3,534,810 4,436,366 3,513,452 4,401,760

Issue of new Units 14,018 26,118 21,358 34,606

As at 31 December 3,548,828 4,462,484 3,534,810 4,436,366
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11	 BORROWINGS

	 Group

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Current (secured):

Medium term notes 14,900 14,900

14,900 14,900

Non-current (secured):

Medium term notes 1,199,285 1,199,025

1,199,285 1,199,025

Total 1,214,185 1,213,925

	 Medium Term Notes (“MTN”) Programme of up to RM5.0 billion in nominal value (“MTN Programme”)

	 On 18 August 2017, the Manager announced on the Main Market of Bursa Securities that IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd (“IGBRC”), a special 
purpose vehicle wholly-owned by IGB REIT via MTrustee Berhad (acting in its capacity as trustee for IGB REIT), had lodged a MTN 
Programme with the SC pursuant to the Guidelines on Unlisted Capital Market Products under the Lodge and Launch Framework issued by 
the SC. The MTN Programme has a tenure of twenty (20) years from the date of first issuance of MTN under the MTN Programme.

	 On 20 September 2017, IGBRC issued the first tranche AAA-rated MTN (“Tranche 1, MTN”) amounting to RM1.2 billion which was advanced 
to the Fund to fully settle the previous Fixed Rate Term Loan facility. The Tranche 1, MTN has a tenure of 7 years (“Legal Maturity”) effective 
from 20 September 2017. For the first 5 years (“Expected Maturity”), the Tranche 1, MTN bears a fixed coupon rate of 4.4% per annum. 
The RM1.2 billion has to be fully repaid on Expected Maturity, otherwise it will cause a trigger event that will result in the coupon rate to be 
stepped up to 5.4% per annum for the sixth and seventh years.

	 The Tranche 1, MTN is secured against, among others, the following:-

	 (i)	 a third party legal assignment of the Trustee’s present and future rights, titles, interests and benefits in MVM and under the sale and 
purchase agreement in relation to MVM. In the event the subdivision of master title is completed and a separate strata title is issued for 
MVM (“MVM Strata Title”), a third party first legal charge shall be created on MVM Strata Title;

	 (ii)	 a third party legal assignment over all the Trustee’s rights, titles, interests and benefits under the proceeds derived from the tenancy/
lease agreements in relation to MVM;

	 (iii)	 a third party legal assignment of the Trustee’s present and future rights, titles, interests and benefits under all insurance policies in 
relation to MVM and the Security Trustee (acting for and on behalf of the MTN holders) being named as the co-insured and loss payee 
of the insurance policies;

	 (iv)	 a third party first ranking legal assignment and charge over the revenue and operating accounts of the Tranche 1, MTN;

	 (v)	 a first party first ranking legal assignment and charge over the debt service reserve account of the Tranche 1, MTN;

	 (vi)	 an irrevocable power of attorney granted by the Trustee in favour of the Security Trustee (acting for and on behalf of the MTN holders) 
to manage and dispose MVM upon expiry of the remedy period under the terms of the Tranche 1, MTN;

	 (vii)	 a letter of undertaking from the Trustee and the Manager:-

		  (a)	 to deposit all cash flows generated from MVM into the revenue account; and

		  (b)	 it shall not declare or make any distributions out of the cash flows from the revenue account to the unitholders if an event of default 
and/or a trigger event has occurred and is continuing or the financial covenants are not met; and

	 (viii)	 a first party legal assignment over the Tranche 1, MTN’s Trustee financing agreement.
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11	 BORROWINGS  (continued)

	 The maturity profiles of the borrowings are as follows:-

<1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years >3 years

Total
Carrying
 Amount

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Group
As at 31 December 2019
Tranche 1, MTN 14,900 - 1,199,285 - 1,214,185

14,900 - 1,199,285 - 1,214,185

As at 31 December 2018
Tranche 1, MTN 14,900 - - 1,199,025 1,213,925

14,900 - - 1,199,025 1,213,925

	 The weighted average effective interest rates as at the reporting date are as follows:-

	 Group
	 2019 2018

% per annum % per annum

Tranche 1, MTN 4.38% 4.38%

12	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

	 Group 	 Fund
2019 2018 2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Non-current
Amount due to subsidiary a - - 1,199,285 1,199,025

Current
Trade payables b 10,688 12,340 10,688 12,340
Tenants’ deposits c 101,429 97,640 101,429 97,640

112,117 109,980 112,117 109,980

Other payables and accrued expenses 10,699 10,829 10,699 10,829
Indirect tax payable 338 360 338 360
Prepaid rental 9,957 8,235 9,957 8,235
Amount due to holding company d 17 - 17 -
Amount due to subsidiary a - - 14,900 14,900
Amounts due to related companies d 12,094 12,218 12,094 12,218
Distribution payable to unitholders 77,581 80,728 77,581 80,728

110,686 112,370 125,586 127,270

Total current trade and other payables 222,803 222,350 237,703 237,250

Total trade and other payables 222,803 222,350 1,436,988 1,436,275
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12	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  (continued)

	 (a)	 The amount due to subsidiary represents advances from the issuance of Tranche 1, MTN, which are secured and carries interest rate at 
4.40% (2018: 4.40%) per annum, in which the repayment terms mirror the terms stated in Note 11.

	 (b)	 Credit terms for trade payables range from 30 days to 90 days (2018: 30 days to 90 days).

	 (c)	 Tenants’ deposits include refundable deposits received from tenants for tenancy related agreements. Tenancy tenures are generally for 
a period of one (1) to three (3) years.

	 (d)	 Amounts due to holding and related companies are unsecured, interest-free (2018: interest free) and repayable on demand.

13	 GROSS REVENUE

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Gross rental income

- Rental income 366,273 355,426

- Rent related income 35,168 33,350

401,441 388,776

Revenue from contract with customers

- Service charge 70,750 68,265

- Car park income 44,736 45,212

- Utilities recoverable 26,632 25,999

- Promotion partnership income 2,520 2,350

- Others 6,053 5,087

150,691 146,913

Gross revenue 552,132 535,689

Revenue from contract with customers is represented by:-

- Over time 150,691 146,913

Revenue from other sources:

- Interest income 7,128 6,756

	 Rental income included variable lease payments related to sales generated from mall tenants which approximates to 10.3% (2018: 10.1%) of 
gross rental income. There are no other variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate. 
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14	 REIMBURSEMENT COSTS

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Manpower costs 31,785 31,547

Marketing expenses 6,456 5,363

Administration expenses 6,218 6,307

Management expenses 3,923 3,265

Insurance premium 1,675 2,187

50,057 48,669

15	 MANAGER’S MANAGEMENT FEES

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Base fee 15,560 15,367

Performance fee 19,939 19,313

35,499 34,680

	 For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, 65% of the total Manager’s management fees has been paid/payable in Units (2018: 100%) 
and the remaining 35% in cash. 

16	 FINANCE COSTS

	 Group 	 Fund
2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Borrowing costs 52,800 52,800 - -

Interest on advances from subsidiary - - 52,800 52,800

Amortisation of transaction costs 260 260 260 260

53,060 53,060 53,060 53,060
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17	 TAXATION

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Reconciliation of tax expense

Profit before taxation 315,860 333,753

Income tax using Malaysian tax rate of 24% (2018: 24%) 75,806 80,101

Non-deductible expenses 4,257 4,197

Fair value gain on investment properties not subject to tax - (7,200)

Income exempted from tax (80,063) (77,098)

- -
	
	 Pursuant to Section 61A of the Malaysian Income Tax Act, 1967 (“Act”), income of IGB REIT will be exempted from tax provided that at 

least 90% of its total taxable income (as defined in the Act) is distributed to the investors in the basis period of IGB REIT for that year 
of assessment within two (2) months after the close of the financial year. If the 90% distribution condition is not complied with or the 
90% distribution is not made within two (2) months after the close of IGB REIT financial year which forms the basis period for a year of 
assessment, IGB REIT will be subject to income tax at the prevailing rate on its total taxable income. Income which has been taxed at the 
IGB REIT level will have tax credits attached when subsequently distributed to unitholders.

	 As the distribution to unitholders for the financial year ended 31 December 2019 is approximately 95% (2018: 95%) of the total distributable 
income, no provision for income taxation has been made for the current and prior financial year.

18	 EARNINGS PER UNIT (“EPU”) – BASIC AND DILUTED

	 The calculation of EPU is based on total comprehensive income attributable to unitholders divided by the weighted average number of Units.

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000

Total comprehensive income

- Realised 315,860 303,753

- Unrealised - 30,000

Total 315,860 333,753

Weighted average number of units (‘000)

Weighted average number of Units in issue 3,543,283 3,525,443

Adjustment for Manager’s management fees payable in Units a 2,987 5,011

Weighted average number of Units for diluted EPU 3,546,270 3,530,454

Basic/Diluted EPU (sen)

- Realised 8.91 8.60

- Unrealised - 0.85

Total 8.91 9.45
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18	 EARNINGS PER UNIT (“EPU”) – BASIC AND DILUTED  (continued)

	 Diluted EPU equals to Basic EPU as there are no potential dilutive units in issue.

	 Note (a):-

	 Group and Fund

	 2019 	 2018

Number
of units Value

Number
of units Value

‘000 RM’000 ‘000 RM’000

Manager’s management fees payable in Units

- from 1 October 2019 to 31 December 2019 at RM1.90 per 
Unit listed on 30 January 2020 2,987 5,675 - -

- from 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018 at RM1.74 per 
Unit listed on 30 January 2019 - - 5,011 8,720

2,987 5,675 5,011 8,720

19	 DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000

Total comprehensive income 315,860 333,753

Distribution adjustments a 25,994 7,677

Distributable income 341,854 341,430

Distribution per unit (sen)

- for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2019
- for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019
- for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019
- for the period from 1 October 2019 to 31 December 2019
- for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 March 2018
- for the period from 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018
- for the period from 1 July 2018 to 30 September 2018
- for the period from 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018

2.40
2.26
2.31
2.19

-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-

2.48
2.14
2.29
2.28

9.16 9.19
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19	 DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS  (continued)

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000

Sources of distribution

Gross rental income 401,441 388,776

Revenue from contracts with customers 150,691 146,913

Interest income 7,128 6,756

Changes in fair value on investment properties - 30,000

559,260 572,445

Less: Expenses (243,400) (238,692)

Total comprehensive income 315,860 333,753

Distribution adjustments a 25,994 7,677

Distributable income 341,854 341,430
Income distribution of 2.40 sen per unit (@ 2.36 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 January 2019 to 31 March 2019
Income distribution of 2.26 sen per unit (@ 2.22 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 April 2019 to 30 June 2019
Income distribution of 2.31 sen per unit (@ 2.27 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 July 2019 to 30 September 2019
Income distribution of 2.19 sen per unit (@ 2.15 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 October 2019 to 31 December 2019
Income distribution of 2.48 sen per unit (@ 2.40 sen taxable and 0.08 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 January 2018 to 31 March 2018
Income distribution of 2.14 sen per unit (@ 2.12 sen taxable and 0.02 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 April 2018 to 30 June 2018
Income distribution of 2.29 sen per unit (@ 2.25 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 July 2018 to 30 September 2018
Income distribution of 2.28 sen per unit (@ 2.24 sen taxable and 0.04 sen non-taxable) 

for the period from 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018
Adjustment for prior year income distribution

(85,031)

(80,136)

(81,978)

(77,581)

-

-

-

-
20

-
-

-

-

(87,410)

(75,534)

(80,947)

(80,728)
(348)

Income distributed (324,706) (324,967)

Income retained 17,148 16,463
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19	 DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS  (continued)

	 Group and Fund
2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000

Note (a):-
Distribution adjustments comprise:-
Changes in fair value on investment properties - (30,000)
Manager’s management fees payable in Units 15 23,074 34,680
Amortisation of transaction costs 260 260
Depreciation of plant and equipment 5 2,660 2,737

25,994 7,677

	 Withholding tax will be deducted for distributions as follows:-

	 Withholding tax rate
2019 2018

Resident corporate N/A^ N/A^
Resident non-corporate 10% 10%
Non-resident individual 10% 10%
Non-resident corporate 24% 24%
Non-resident institutional 10% 10%
	

	 ^	 to tax at prevailing rate

20	 PORTFOLIO TURNOVER RATIO

	 Group and Fund
2019 2018

Portfolio Turnover Ratio (“PTR”) (times) - -

	 The calculation of PTR is based on the average value of total acquisitions and disposals of investments in the Group and the Fund for the 
financial year to the average NAV during the financial year.

	 Save for placement and upliftment of fixed deposits, there were no acquisitions and disposals of investments in the Group and the Fund for 
the financial year.

	 Since the basis of calculating PTR can vary among REITs, there is no consistent or coherent basis for providing an accurate comparison of 
the Group’s and of the Fund’s PTR against other REITs.

21	 MANAGEMENT EXPENSE RATIO

	 Group and Fund
2019 2018

Management expense ratio (“MER”) (%) 0.98 0.96

	 The calculation of the MER is based on the total fund operating fees of the Group and the Fund incurred for the financial year, including the 
Manager’s management fees, trustees’ fees and other trust expenses, to the NAV (after income distribution).

	 Since the basis of calculating MER can vary among REITs, there is no consistent or coherent basis for providing an accurate comparison of 
the Group’s and of the Fund’s MER against other REITs.
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22	 SEGMENT REPORTING

	 The segmental financial information by business or geographical segments is not presented as there is only one (1) business activity within 
the investment properties portfolio of the Group and of the Fund, which comprised of MVM and TGM and its entire business is conducted in 
Kuala Lumpur.

	 The Manager assesses the financial performance of the operating segments based on, including but not limited to, net property income 
(“NPI”). The NPI enables financial performance benchmarking as such basis eliminates the effect of financing and investment decisions 
which may not be made at operating level. 

23	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

	 Group 	 Fund
2019 2018 2019 2018

Note RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM ’000

Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets as per statement of financial position:-

- Trade and other receivables excluding 
prepayments and accrued billings 8 11,377 9,607 39,830 37,099

- Cash and bank balances 9 225,509 207,123 197,056 179,631

Total financial assets 236,886 216,730 236,886 216,730

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Liabilities as per statement of financial position:-

- Borrowings 11 1,214,185 1,213,925 - -

- Trade and other payables excluding indirect 
tax and prepaid rental 12 212,508 213,755 1,426,693 1,427,680

Total financial liabilities 1,426,693 1,427,680 1,426,693 1,427,680

24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

	 24.1	Financial risk factors

		  The Group’s and the Fund’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: interest rate risk (including fair value interest rate risk), 
credit risk and liquidity and cash flow risk. The Group’s and the Fund’s overall financial risk management objective is to ensure that 
it creates value for its unitholders. The Group and the Fund focus on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to mitigate 
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group and the Fund. Financial risk management is carried out through risk 
reviews, internal control systems and insurance programmes. The Manager regularly reviews the risk profile and ensure adherence to 
the Group’s and the Fund’s financial risk management policies.

		  (a)	 Interest rate risk

			   The Group’s and the Fund’s income and cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates as the 
interest rate of Tranche 1, MTN is fixed at 4.4% per annum which locks in the interest rate against any fluctuation resulting in 
exposure to fair value and cash flow interest rate risk.

			   Sensitivity analysis for interest rate fluctuation is irrelevant or not applicable as the Group and the Fund do not use variable rates in 
managing its cash flow interest rate risk.
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24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  (continued)

	 24.1	Financial risk factors  (continued)

		  (b)	 Credit risk

			   Credit risk arises from credit exposures to outstanding receivables from the tenants, as well as cash, cash equivalents and 
deposits with banks and financial institutions.

			   Credit risk with respect to trade receivables and intercompany receivables are limited due to the nature of business which is mainly 
rental related and cash-based. Credit risks arising from outstanding receivables from the tenants are mitigated and monitored by 
strict selection of tenants and/or business associates with high creditworthiness. Trade receivables are monitored on an on-going 
basis via compliance with standard operating and reporting procedures. Other than anchor tenants, namely Aeon BIG, Aeon, 
Metrojaya, GSC, Isetan, Robinsons and GSC Aurum Theatre, which contribute 9.5% (2018: 10.0%) of the rental income, the 
Group and the Fund do not have any significant exposure to any individual or group of tenants or counterparties. 

			   Simplified approach for trade receivables

			   The Group and the Fund apply simplified approach which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition 
of the trade receivables.

			   To measure the expected credit loss, the expected loss rates are based on the historical payment profiles of tenants and the 
corresponding historical credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking 
information on factors affecting the ability of the tenants to settle the receivables. The Group and the Fund have identified the 
credit profile and sales performance of tenants to be the most relevant forward looking factors, and accordingly adjusted the 
historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. The Group and the Fund have determined the default rate for 
trade receivables based on their historical default rate and applied the historical default rate on trade receivables balance in the 
financial year. 

			   The historical experience in collection of trade receivables falls within the recorded and expected allowances. Furthermore, 
the tenants have placed security deposits in the form of cash or bank guarantees which act as collateral. In view of the above, 
no additional credit risk beyond amounts allowed for expected credit losses is inherent in the Group’s and the Fund’s trade 
receivables.

			   Bank deposits are placed with licensed financial institutions with high credit ratings assigned by credit rating agencies, hence, 
the credit risk is considered to be low although the Group and the Fund have significant deposits placed with a single financial 
institution.

			   General 3-stage approach for other receivables, deposits and non-trade intercompany balances

			   The other receivables, deposits and non-trade intercompany balances impairment are assessed individually to determine whether 
there was objective evidence that an impairment had been incurred but not yet identified. Loss allowance is measured at a 
probability-weighted amount that reflects the possibility that a credit loss occurs and the possibility that no credit loss occurs.

			   The analysis of credit risk exposure of trade and other receivables is as follows:-

			   Trade receivables

			   Group and Fund

1-7
days

8-30
days

31-60
days

61-90
days

>90
days Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

As at 31 December 2019

Trade receivables (gross) 2,115 1,095 220 67 1,393 4,890

Loss allowance (19) (780) (203) (37) (1,393) (2,432)

Trade receivables (net) 2,096 315 17 30 - 2,458

Expected loss rate 0.9% 71.2% 92.3% 55.2% 100.0%
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	 24.1	Financial risk factors  (continued)

		  (b)	 Credit risk  (continued)

			   Trade receivables  (continued)

			   Group and Fund

1-7
days

8-30
days

31-60
days

61-90
days

>90
days Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

As at 31 December 2018

Trade receivables (gross) 938 1,230 329 171 1,413 4,081

Loss allowance (9) (887) (272) (62) (1,413) (2,643)

Trade receivables (net) 929 343 57 109 - 1,438

Expected loss rate 1.0% 72.1% 82.7% 36.3% 100.0%

			   Other receivables, deposits and non-trade intercompany balances

			   There is no impairment of other receivables, deposits and non-trade intercompany balances as the rate of default and expected 
loss rate is low.

			   The movement of loss allowance of trade receivables is as follows:-

	 Group and Fund
2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

As at 1 January 2,643 3,096

Loss allowance 1,917 2,655

Reversal during the year (2,128) (3,108)

As at 31 December 2,432 2,643

			   The decrease in the loss allowance of RM211,000 is due to higher receipt and recovery from trade debtors.

			   The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of receivables.

		  (c)	 Liquidity and cash flow risk

			   The rolling forecasts of liquidity requirements are monitored to ensure there is sufficient cash to meet operational needs while 
maintaining sufficient headroom on the committed borrowing facilities (Note 11).

			   Adequate cash, cash equivalents and bank facilities are maintained and monitored to finance the operations, to distribute income 
to unitholders, and to mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. In addition, the Manager also monitors and observes the 
REIT Guidelines concerning limits on total borrowings of the investment trust.

			   Cash and bank balances as at 31 December 2019 of the Group and of the Fund of RM226 million (2018: RM207 million) and 
RM197 million (2018: RM180 million) respectively are expected to assist in the liquidity and cash flow risk management.
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24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  (continued)

	 24.1	Financial risk factors  (continued)

		  (c)	 Liquidity and cash flow risk (continued)

			   The analysis of the non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 
reporting date to the contractual maturity date is as follows:- 

Group <1 year
1 to 2
years

2 to 3
years >3 years Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 
At 31 December 2019

Borrowings 52,800 52,800 1,252,800 - 1,358,400

Trade and other payables and 
accruals excluding indirect tax and 
prepaid rental 212,508 - - - 212,508

At 31 December 2018

Borrowings 52,800 52,800 52,800 1,252,800 1,411,200

Trade and other payables and accruals 
excluding indirect tax and prepaid 
rental 213,755 - - - 213,755

Fund <1 year
1 to 2
years

2 to 3
years >3 years Total

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 
At 31 December 2019

Trade and other payables and 
accruals excluding indirect tax and 
prepaid rental 280,208 52,800 1,238,885 - 1,571,893

At 31 December 2018

Trade and other payables and accruals 
excluding indirect tax and prepaid 
rental 281,455 52,800 52,800 1,238,625 1,625,680

			   Note:-

			   The amounts are contractual and undiscounted cash flows.
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24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  (continued)

	 24.2 	Capital risk management

		  The Group’s capital is the unitholders’ capital and borrowings. The Fund’s capital is the unitholders’ capital and intercompany 
borrowings.

		  The overall capital management objectives are to safeguard the ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
unitholders and other stakeholders as well as to maintain a more efficient capital structure. 

		  The Manager’s on-going capital management strategy involves maintaining an appropriate gearing level and adopting an active interest 
rate management strategy to manage the risks associated with refinancing and changes in interest rates. The Manager intends to 
implement this strategy by (i) diversifying sources of debt funding to the extent appropriate, (ii) maintaining a reasonable level of debt 
service capability, (iii) securing favourable terms of funding, (iv) managing its financial obligations and (v) where appropriate, managing 
the exposures arising from adverse market interest rates, such as through fixed rate borrowings, to improve the efficiency for the cost of 
capital.

		  The total borrowings to total assets ratio is as follows:-

	 Group 	 Fund
2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Total borrowings 1,214,185 1,213,925 - -

Total intercompany borrowings - - 1,214,185 1,213,925

Total assets 5,220,951 5,202,966 5,220,951 5,202,966

Borrowings to total assets ratio (%) 23.3 23.3 23.3 23.3

		  The total borrowings should not exceed 50% of the total assets at the time the borrowings are incurred in accordance with the REIT 
Guidelines. The Group and the Fund complied with the borrowing limit requirement for the financial year.

		  The financial covenants of the MTN Programme are as follows:-

		  (i)	 to ensure that the total amount raised by the Group from issuance of debt securities and/or any other financing facilities shall not 
exceed 50% of the total asset value of the Group; and

		  (ii)	 to maintain the interest service cover ratio (“ISCR”) of not less than 1.5 times for the Group, calculated on a yearly basis at the end 
of the financial year of the Group.

		  The financial covenants of the Tranche 1, MTN are as follows:-

		  (i)	 to maintain a security cover ratio for MVM of not more than 60%;

		  (ii)	 to maintain the ISCR of not less than 2.0 times for MVM, calculated on a yearly basis at the end of the financial year of IGB REIT; 
and

		  (iii)	 to ensure that the total amount raised by the Group from issuance of debt securities and/or any other financing facilities shall not 
exceed 50% of the total asset value of the Group.

		  The Group and the Fund complied with the financial covenants for both the financial years.

		  The Deed provides that the Manager shall, with the approval of the Trustee, for each distribution period, distribute all (or such other 
percentage as determined by the Manager at its absolute discretion) of the Fund’s distributable income. It is the intention of the 
Manager to distribute at least 90% of the Fund’s distributable income on a quarterly basis (or such other interval as determined by the 
Manager at its absolute discretion). 

		  For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Group and the Fund distributed approximately 95% (2018: 95%) of its distributable 
income.
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24	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES  (continued)

	 24.3	Fair value

		  The assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the fair value measurement hierarchy are as follows:-

		  (a)	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
		  (b)	 inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly 

(Level 2); and
		  (c)	 inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data i.e. unobservable inputs (Level 3).

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Level 3

Recurring fair value measurements:-

Investment properties 4,960,000 4,960,000

		  Level 3 fair values of the investment properties have been derived from the income approach method based on valuations performed by 
independent registered valuer. The valuation techniques, significant parameters and movement in fair values are as disclosed in Note 6. 

		  Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value

		  Save as disclosed below, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities as at reporting date approximated their fair values. The 
fair value of cash deposits received from tenants at the reporting date is not materially different from their carrying value as the impact 
of discounting is not significant.

		  The Group’s borrowings are not measured at fair value as at reporting date. The fair value of such borrowings is disclosed within the fair 
value hierarchy as follows:-

	 Group

	 2019 	 2018

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Level 2

Borrowings 1,214,185 1,245,524 1,213,925 1,223,960

	 Fund

	 2019 	 2018

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

Carrying
amount

Fair
value

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Level 2

Intercompany borrowings 1,214,185 1,245,524 1,213,925 1,223,960
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25	 OPERATING LEASES

	 Leases as lessor

	 The Group and the Fund lease out the investment properties (Note 6) under operating leases. Subject to full receipts and/or recoveries of all 
trade receivables, the future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable lease are as follows:-

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Less than one (1) year 313,604 291,304

Between one (1) and two (2) years 205,180 192,411

Between two (2) and three (3) years 82,679 97,521

Between three (3) and four (4) years 25,043 25,280

Between four (4) and five (5) years 25,306 25,340

More than five (5) years 147,707 165,630

799,519 797,486

26	 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

	 The capital expenditure which has not been provided for in the financial statements is as follows:-

	 Group and Fund

2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000

Plant and equipment

Authorised by Directors of the Manager but not contracted 5,897 3,397

27	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 The significant related party transactions are carried out in the normal course of business on terms and conditions negotiated between the 
contracting parties.

Related party Relationship

IGB Berhad (“IGB”) Major unitholder, the sponsor and holding company of the Fund
IGB Corporation Berhad (“IGBC”) A subsidiary of IGB
IGB REIT Management Sdn Bhd The Manager of the Fund, a subsidiary of IGBC
IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of the Fund via MTrustee Berhad (acting in its capacity as trustee for IGB REIT)
AFMS Solutions Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGB
Ensignia Construction Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
IGB Properties Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Mid Valley City Developments Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Mid Valley City Energy Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Mid Valley City Enterprise Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Mid Valley City Hotels Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Mid Valley City North Tower Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Mid Valley City South Tower Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

27	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  (continued)

Related party Relationship

Mid Valley City Southpoint Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
MVC Centrepoint North Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
MVC Centrepoint South Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
MVC CyberManager Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
MVEC Exhibition and Event Services Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Tanah Permata Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of IGBC
Technoltic Engineering Sdn Bhd An associate of IGBC
Wah Seong (Malaya) Trading Co. Sdn Bhd Major unitholder of the Fund
Strass Media Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of Wah Seong (Malaya) Trading Co. Sdn Bhd
Syn Tai Hung Trading Sdn Bhd A subsidiary of Wah Seong Corporation Berhad
JVP Venture Sdn Bhd A person connected to a director of the Manager
Fast Casual Hospitality Sdn Bhd A person connected to a director of the Manager

	 Group 	 Fund
2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Significant related party transactions for the financial 
year:-

Receivables
1) Utilities charges

- IGB Properties Sdn Bhd 610 470 610 470
- Mid Valley City Enterprise Sdn Bhd 1,624 1,449 1,624 1,449
- MVC Centrepoint South Sdn Bhd 791 956 791 956
- MVC Centrepoint North Sdn Bhd 1,079 986 1,079 986
- Mid Valley City Hotels Sdn Bhd 3,214 3,134 3,214 3,134
- Tanah Permata Sdn Bhd 1,256 1,252 1,256 1,252
- Mid Valley City Southpoint Sdn Bhd 105 - 105 -
- Mid Valley City South Tower Sdn Bhd 1,999 1,903 1,999 1,903
- Mid Valley City North Tower Sdn Bhd 2,006 2,081 2,006 2,081
- Mid Valley City Energy Sdn Bhd 854 802 854 802
- Mid Valley City Developments Sdn Bhd 86 67 86 67
- Ensignia Construction Sdn Bhd - 54 - 54
- Strass Media Sdn Bhd 134 137 134 137
- IGB Corporation Berhad - 59 - 59

13,758 13,350 13,758 13,350

2) Rental of premises
- MVEC Exhibition and Event Services Sdn Bhd 5,357 5,333 5,357 5,333
- MVC CyberManager Sdn Bhd 60 60 60 60
- JVP Venture Sdn Bhd 161 206 161 206
- Fast Casual Hospitality Sdn Bhd 295 278 295 278

5,873 5,877 5,873 5,877



ANNUAL REPORT 2019 105

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

27	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  (continued)

	 Group 	 Fund
2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Significant related party transactions for the financial 
year:-  (continued)

Receivables  (continued)

3) Rental of light box
- Strass Media Sdn Bhd 1,141 986 1,141 986

4) Rental of car park
- IGB Berhad 222 - 222 -
- IGB Corporation Berhad - 201 - 201
- Tanah Permata Sdn Bhd 180 177 180 177

402 378 402 378

5) Interest charges to
- IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd - - 985 1,031

Payables

1) Utilities charges
- Mid Valley City Energy Sdn Bhd 41,698 39,386 41,698 39,386
- Tanah Permata Sdn Bhd 73 64 73 64

41,771 39,450 41,771 39,450

2) Manager’s management fee
- IGB REIT Management Sdn Bhd 35,499 34,680 35.499 34,680

3) Repair and maintenance
- Technoltic Engineering Sdn Bhd 38 794 38 794
- Ensignia Construction Sdn Bhd 1,862 1,380 1,862 1,380
- Wah Seong (Malaya) Trading Co. Sdn Bhd 133 151 133 151
- Syn Tai Hung Trading Sdn Bhd 8 110 8 110

2,041 2,435 2,041 2,435

4) Hotel facilities and services
- Tanah Permata Sdn Bhd 129 112 129 112

129 112 129 112

5) Management support cost
- AFMS Solutions Sdn Bhd 183 - 183 -

6) Interest charged by
- IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd - - 53,060 53,060
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)

27	 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  (continued)

	 Group 	 Fund
2019 2018 2019 2018

RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

Significant related party balances as at reporting date:-

1) Deposits placed with
- Mid Valley City Energy Sdn Bhd 7,421 7,431 7,421 7,431

2) Amount owing by
- IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd - - 28,512 27,527

3) Amount owing to
- IGB REIT Management Sdn Bhd 8,732 8,720 8,732 8,720
- IGB REIT Capital Sdn Bhd - - 1,214,185 1,213,925
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ISSUED UNITS
3,551,815,047 (voting right : 1 vote per Unit)

PUBLIC SPREAD
44.96%

DISTRIBUTION OF UNITHOLDINGS

Range of Unitholdings
No. of

Unitholders
% of

Unitholders
No. of 

Issued Units
% of 

Issued Units

Less than 100 1,800 7.85 51,202 0.00
100 – 1,000 8,470 36.96 4,307,999 0.12
1,000 – 10,000 9,216 40.21 38,759,010 1.09
10,001 – 100,000 2,752 12.01 87,124,884 2.45
100,001 to less than 5% of Issued Units 675 2.95 1,225,654,385 34.51
5% and above of Issued Units 5 0.02 2,195,917,567 61.83

Total 22,918 100.00 3,551,815,047 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL UNITHOLDERS (5% AND ABOVE)

Name

	 Direct 	 Deemed*

No. of 
Issued Units 

% of 
Issued Units

No. of 
Issued Units

% of 
Issued Units

IGB Berhad 1,733,617,754 48.81 152,360,533 4.29
Dato’ Seri Robert Tan Chung Meng 14,739,081 0.42 1,917,144,903 53.98
Pauline Tan Suat Ming Nil Nil 1,917,144,903 53.98
Tony Tan Choon Keat 1,000,000 0.03 1,917,144,903 53.98
Tan Chin Nam Sendirian Berhad Nil Nil 1,915,598,293 53.93
Tan Kim Yeow Sendirian Berhad 2,879,665 0.08 1,914,265,238 53.90
Wah Seong (Malaya) Trading Co. Sdn Bhd 27,961,606 0.79 1,885,978,287 53.10
Employees Provident Fund Board 331,014,913 9.32 Nil Nil
Kumpulan Wang Persiaran (Diperbadankan) 208,203,200 5.86 27,477,200 0.77

DIRECTORS AND CEO UNITHOLDINGS

Name 

	 Direct 	 Deemed*

No. of 
Issued Units 

% of 
Issued Units

No. of 
Issued Units

% of 
Issued Units

Dato’ Seri Robert Tan Chung Meng 14,739,081 0.42 1,917,144,903 53.98
Tan Lei Cheng 1,853,742 0.05 345,722 0.01
Daniel Yong Chen-I 622,132 0.02 1,080,898 0.03
Elizabeth Tan Hui Ning 3,579,000 0.10 Nil Nil
Antony Patrick Barragry 151,300 0.00 Nil Nil

*	 Deemed to have interests in Units held by other corporations by virtue of section 4 of the Capital Markets and Services Act 2007

UNITHOLDING STATISTICS
As at 31 January 2020
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UNITHOLDING STATISTICS
As at 31 January 2020
(continued)

TOP 30 UNITHOLDERS 

No. Name of Unitholder
No. of 

Issued Units
% of 

Issued Units

1 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for IGB Berhad (KLC)

640,000,000 18.02

2 Public Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for IGB Berhad (KLC – A/C 2)

640,000,000 18.02

3 IGB Berhad 453,617,754 12.77
4 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd

Employees Provident Fund Board
254,226,613 7.16

5 Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) 208,073,200 5.86
6 IGB REIT Management Sdn Bhd 151,815,047 4.27
7 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd

Exempt AN for AIA Bhd
60,662,598 1.71

8 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (PAR 1)

52,733,600 1.48

9 Pertubuhan Keselamatan Sosial 40,836,350 1.15
10 Cartaban Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd

PAMB for Prulink Equity Fund
35,718,192 1.01

11 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Public Smallcap Fund

33,134,616 0.93

12 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Employees Provident Fund Board (Affin-HWG)

32,297,600 0.91

13 Wah Seong (Malaya) Trading Co. Sdn Bhd 27,961,606 0.79
14 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd

JPMCB NA for Vanguard Total International Stock Index Fund
27,509,833 0.77

15 HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
JPMCB NA for Vanguard Emerging Markets Stock Index Fund

22,740,770 0.64

16 HSBC Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
HSBC (M) Trustee Bhd for Zurich Life Insurance Malaysia Berhad (Life PAR)

22,680,800 0.64

17 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Public Dividend Select Fund

22,566,432 0.63

18 Amanahraya Trustees Berhad
Public Savings Fund

20,943,076 0.59

19 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Employees Provident Fund Board (AMUNDI)

18,263,300 0.51

20 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
CBNY for DFA International Real Estate Securities Portfolio of DFA Investment Dimensions Group Inc

16,254,700 0.46

21 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Employees Provident Fund Board (CIMB PRIN)

15,168,500 0.43

22 CIMB Group Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
CIMB Commerce Trustee Berhad - Kenanga Growth Fund

14,507,500 0.41

23 Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
Great Eastern Life Assurance (Malaysia) Berhad (LSF)

13,017,000 0.37

24 Tokio Marine Life Insurance Malaysia Bhd
As Beneficial Owner (PF)

12,179,200 0.34

25 Robert Tan Chung Meng 12,005,755 0.34
26 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd

SSBT Fund NBIF for Nuveen Real Asset Income Fund
11,144,361 0.31

27 Cartaban Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Exempt AN for State Street Bank & Trust Company (West CLT OD67)

10,978,300 0.31

28 UOBM Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
Pledged Securities Account for Montego Assets Limited (PCB)

10,000,000 0.28

29 DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Asing) Sdn Bhd
SSBT Fund ZYEF for Vanguard Global EX - U.S. Real Estate Index Fund

9,788,000 0.28

30 Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
CEP for Asian Equity Fund (Manulife GBL FD)

9,450,700 0.27

Total 2,900,275,403 81.66
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Notice of EIGHTH Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN of the Eighth Annual General Meeting (8th AGM) of IGB Real Estate Investment Trust (IGB REIT) to be held at 
Bintang Ballroom, Level 5, Cititel Mid Valley, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia on Wednesday, 22 April 2020 
at 2.00 p.m. to transact the following business: 

A G E N D A

Ordinary Business

1.0	 To receive the Financial Statements of IGB REIT for the year ended 31 December 2019 together with reports issued by the Trustee, the 
Manager and the Auditor (Financial Statements and Reports FY2019).

Special Business

2.0	 To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolution:

	 Proposed Renewal of Unitholder Mandate for Recurrent Related Party Transactions of a revenue or trading nature (RRPT Mandate)

	 THAT authorisation of the Unitholders be and is hereby accorded to IGB REIT Group to enter into all arrangements and/or transactions with 
IGB Berhad and its subsidiaries (IGB Group) as specified in Section 3.0 of the Circular to Unitholders dated 28 February 2020 (Circular), 
provided that such arrangements and/or transactions are:

	 (i)	 recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature;
	 (ii)	 necessary for IGB REIT Group’s day-to-day operations;
	 (iii)	 carried out in the ordinary course of business, at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms not more favourable to the related 

parties than those generally available to the public; and
	 (iv)	 not detrimental to the minority Unitholders

	 THAT the RRPT Mandate, unless revoked or varied by IGB REIT in general meeting, shall continue for the period ending on the date of the 
annual general meeting to be held in 2021;

	 AND THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to do all such acts, matters, deeds and things as they may consider expedient or 
necessary or in the interests of IGB REIT to give effect to the RRPT Mandate and/or this resolution.

By Order of the Board of Directors
IGB REIT MANAGEMENT SDN BHD
as Manager of IGB REIT

Tina Chan
Company Secretary 
(MAICSA 7001659/SSM PC No. 201908000014)

Kuala Lumpur 
28 February 2020

Explanatory Notes of each item on Agenda:

(1)	 Financial Statements and Reports FY2019

	 Agenda 1.0 is for presentation of the Financial Statements and Reports FY2019 to Unitholders for discussion, and no voting is required.

(2)	 RRPT Mandate

	 Unitholders should note that by approving the ordinary resolution relating to the RRPT Mandate, Unitholders will be authorising IGB REIT 
Group to enter into RRPT with IGB Group during the mandate period, the details of which are set out in the Circular.

	 This resolution will be taken by poll. For the resolution to be passed more than 50% of the votes cast must be in favour. Please follow the 
instructions given during the 8th AGM for the e-polling process. The poll results will be announced through BursaLINK and will be posted on 
IGB REIT’s website as soon as possible following the 8th AGM. 

(3)	 Abstention from Voting

	 Dato’ Seri Robert Tan Chung Meng, Daniel Yong Chen-I, Elizabeth Tan Hui Ning and Tan Lei Cheng and persons connected to them will 
abstain from voting on the ordinary resolution relating to the RRPT Mandate.
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Notice of EIGHTH Annual General Meeting
(continued)

Notes:

(1)	 Appointment of proxy

	 (a)	 A Unitholder is entitled to appoint 1 or 2 proxies (none of whom need be a Unitholder of IGB REIT). 
	 (b)	 A Unitholder, who is an authorised nominee, may appoint not more than 2 proxies in respect of each securities account held; whereas, 

an exempt authorised nominee may appoint multiple proxies in respect of each securities account held.
	 (c)	 Proxy Form in the case of an individual shall be signed by the appointor or his/her attorney, and in the case of corporation, either under 

its common seal or the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
	 (d)	 Where a Unitholder appoints 2 proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless the proportion of the unitholdings to be represented by 

each proxy is specified.
	 (e)	 Only Unitholders registered in Record of Depositors as at 15 April 2020 shall be entitled to attend and vote at the 8th AGM or appoint 

proxies to attend and vote on their behalf.
	 (f)	 IGB REIT shall have the right to reject Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of 

the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified on the Proxy Form.
	 (g)	 Proxy Form and power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or certified or office copy of such power or authority 

must be deposited at the Manager’s registered office, no later than 2.00 p.m. on Tuesday, 21 April 2020.
	 (h)	 Annual Report 2019 (AR2019) and Circular can be viewed and downloaded at www.igbreit.com.

(2)	 Registration of Unitholders/Proxies

	 (a)	 Registration will start at 12.00 noon on the day of the 8th AGM. 
	 (b)	 Unitholders/proxies are required to produce original identification cards/documents for verification. 
	 (c)	 Upon verification, each Unitholder/proxy will be given an identification wristband. No person will be allowed to enter the meeting 

hall without wearing the identification wristband. There will be no replacement in the event Unitholders/proxies lose or misplace the 
identification wristband. Unitholders/proxies will be allowed to enter the meeting hall from 1.00 p.m. onwards. 

	 (d)	 The registration counters will only process verification of identities and registration. Other queries/clarification, please proceed to Help 
Desk counter within the registration area.

	 (e)	 Parking tickets can be validated at the secretariat counter for Unitholders/proxies who park their vehicles at Mid Valley Megamall (MVM) 
and The Gardens Mall (TGM) only. IGB REIT will NOT validate nor reimburse Unitholders/proxies for parking charges using Touch’ N 
Go, or the valet parking services at MVM and TGM.

	 (f)	 Printed copies of AR2019 and Circular are available for collection at the secretariat counter on a first-come first-served basis.



(constituted by the Deed of Trust dated 18 July 2012 as amended by the First Amending and Restating Deed dated 25 October 2018
between IGB REIT Management Sdn Bhd and MTrustee Berhad)

PROXY FORM – 8TH AGM		

*I/We (full name as per NRIC No./Certificate of Incorporation) 

NRIC No./Company No.  of (full address) 

being a Unitholder of IGB REIT hereby appoint the following person(s):

Name of proxy, NRIC No. & Address	 No. of Units to be represented by proxy

1.	 	

	

2.	 	

	

or, both of whom failing, the Chairman of the 8th AGM as my/our proxy to attend and to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the 8th AGM of 
IGB REIT to be held at Bintang Ballroom, Level 5, Cititel Mid Valley, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia on 
Wednesday, 22 April 2020 at 2.00 p.m. or at any adjournment thereof. 

I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the resolution to be proposed at the 8th AGM as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction 
as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion.

Ordinary Resolution

First Proxy Second Proxy

For* Against* For* Against*
RRPT Mandate

*	 If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against”, please tick () within the box provided.

Dated this  day of  2020	
		  Signature/Common Seal of Unitholder 

Notes:
(a)	 A Unitholder is entitled to appoint 1 or 2 proxies (none of whom need be a Unitholder of IGB REIT). 
(b)	 A Unitholder, who is an authorised nominee, may appoint not more than 2 proxies in respect of each securities account held; whereas, an 

exempt authorised nominee may appoint multiple proxies in respect of each securities account held.
(c)	 Proxy Form in the case of an individual shall be signed by the appointor or his/her attorney, and in the case of corporation, either under its 

common seal or the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.
(d)	 Where a Unitholder appoints 2 proxies, the appointment shall be invalid unless the proportion of the unitholdings to be represented by each 

proxy is specified.
(e)	 Only Unitholders registered in Record of Depositors as at 15 April 2020 shall be entitled to attend and vote at the 8th AGM or appoint proxies 

to attend and vote on their behalf.
(f)	 IGB REIT shall have the right to reject Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or where the true intentions of the 

appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointer specified on the Proxy Form.
(g)	 Proxy Form and power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or certified or office copy of such power or authority must 

be deposited at the Manager’s registered office, no later than 2.00 p.m. on Tuesday, 21 April 2020.
(h)	 Annual Report 2019 and Circular to Unitholders dated 28 February 2020 can be viewed and downloaded at www.igbreit.com.

CDS Account No.

No. of Units Held



The Company Secretary
IGB REIT Management Sdn Bhd 201201006785 (908168-A)
the Manager of IGB REIT
Level 32, The Gardens South Tower
Mid Valley City
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
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PROXY FORM
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